UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, DC 20549

FORM 10-Q

	1	OIIII IU Q		
(Mar ⊠	k One) QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SI	ECTION 13 OR 15(d) O	— OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT	OF
	1934			_
	For the quarter	ly period ended Septembe OR	r 30, 2025	
	TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SI 1934	ECTION 13 OR 15(d) O	OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT	OF
		sition period from ion File Number: 001-3	to 9918	
	_	a Resources	<u> </u>	
	(Exact Name of R	egistrant as Specified in	its Charter)	
	British Columbia, Canada (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)		98-1040943 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)	
	405 S. 8th Street, Suite 201 Boise, Idaho (Address of principal executive offices)		83702 (Zip Code)	
	(D. = 1.4	(208) 901-3060		
		ephone number, including	_	
	Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the	_	1934:	
	Title of each class	Trading Symbol(s)	Name of each exchange on which registered	i
	Common Shares, without par value	PPTA	Nasdaq	
	Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) hange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or feen subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 c	or such shorter period that t		
	Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has sub le 405 of Regulation S-T (\S 232.405 of this chapter) cred to submit such files). Yes \boxtimes No \square			
	Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a larg any, or a smaller reporting company. See the definition rging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange	s of "large accelerated filer,"		
_	accelerated filer		Accelerated filer	
Non-a	accelerated filer		Smaller reporting company	\boxtimes
Emer	ging growth company			
comp	If an emerging growth company, indicate by check lying with any new or revised financial accounting star	_	-	1 for

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes \square No \boxtimes

As of November 3, 2025, the registrant had 121,872,682 common shares outstanding.

PERPETUA RESOURCES CORP.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
CAUTIO	NARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	2
PART I.	FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)	5
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	22
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	30
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	30
PART II	OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	31
	Risk Factors	32
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	39
Item 3.	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	39
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	39
Item 5.	Other Information	39
Item 6.	Exhibits	40

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Quarterly Report are "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of "safe harbor" provisions of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") and "forward-looking information" within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities laws. All statements, other than statements of historical fact included in this Quarterly Report, regarding our strategy, future operations, financial position, estimated revenues and losses, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management are forward-looking statements. When used in this Quarterly Report, the words "anticipate," "believe," "expect," "estimate," "forecast," "intend," "likely," "plan," "potential," "project," "outlook," "may," "will," "should," "would," "could," "can," the negatives thereof, variations thereon and other similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain such identifying words. Forward-looking statements are based on certain estimates, beliefs, expectations and assumptions made in light of management's experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as well as other factors that may be appropriate.

Forward-looking statements necessarily involve unknown risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results or outcomes to differ materially from those expressed or implied in such statements. Due to the risks, uncertainties and assumptions inherent in forward-looking information, you should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. Factors that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects can be found in *Item 1A*, *Risk Factors*, *Item 2*, *Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations* and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report and in *Item 1A*, *Risk Factors and Item 7*, *Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations* in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024. These factors include, but are not limited to, the following:

- the Company's ability to successfully implement and finance the Company's Stibnite Gold Project (the "Project" or "Stibnite Gold Project") and the occurrence of the expected benefits from the Project, including creation of jobs and environmental benefits and its ability to achieve the results indicated in the updated cash flow model for the Project released in February 2025 (the "Financial Update");
- the impact on the Company's business, results of operations and financial condition of delays in obtaining or failure to obtain required permits and other governmental approvals, the legal challenges by third parties to any such permits or governmental approvals, or the ability of the Company to comply with the terms and requirements of such permits and other governmental approvals;
- the Company's ability to successfully secure financing from the Export-Import Bank of the United States ("U.S. EXIM") or other sources on acceptable terms, or at all, including the review process and potential outcome of the Company's U.S. EXIM financing application; the amount of potential debt financing available to the Company; the eligibility of the Project for funding under the Make More in America ("MMIA") initiative and China and Transformational Exports Program ("CTEP"); expected timing of, and benefits to the Project of, securing such financing from U.S. EXIM or other sources;
- the Company's ability to meet expectations regarding its financial resources and future prospects;
- the Company's ability to successfully satisfy any conditions to financing sources on expected timelines, if at all, and the amount and timing of any such financing;
- the intended environmental and other outcomes of the South Fork Salmon Water Quality Enhancement Fund (the "Fund") related to the Nez Perce Tribe's Clean Water Act ("CWA") lawsuit, and the outcome of good faith discussions between the Company and the Nez Perce Tribe with respect to future permitting and activities at the Project:
- regulatory and legal changes, requirements for additional capital, requirements for additional water rights and the potential effect of proposed notices of environmental conditions relating to mineral claims;
- the accuracy of analyses and other information based on expectations of future performance and planned work programs;
- the accuracy of the assumptions, qualifications and limitations of the results of the Financial Update and the economic results and sensitivity analysis of the variables included therein;
- possible events, conditions or financial performance that are based on assumptions about future economic conditions and courses of action;
- assumptions and analysis underlying our mineral reserve estimates and plans for mineral resource exploration and development;
- the likelihood of successful mining operations or the profitable production of minerals and precious metals;
- the Company's history of losses and expectation of future losses;
- the Company's limited property portfolio and potential challenges related to the Company's title to its mineral properties;

- timing, costs and potential success of future activities on the Company's properties, including, but not limited to, development and operating costs in the event that a construction decision is made and the Company's ability to achieve production at the Project if constructed;
- potential results of exploration, development and environmental protection and remediation activities, including
 activities relating to construction and operation of the Stibnite Gold Project and legacy conditions in the Stibnite
 Mining District caused by historic mining activities by operators before the Company;
- future outlook and goals;
- current or future legal challenges, proceedings, litigation (including the lawsuits challenging the approvals of the Stibnite Gold Project issued by various federal agencies and the securities class action lawsuit) or environmental liability, including derivative claims and litigation challenging the validity of the permits and approvals issued with respect to the Project;
- global economic, political and social conditions and financial markets, including any potential regulatory or policy changes, proposed legislation, the imposition or increase in tariffs, changes in existing trade agreements and relations, inflationary pressures, elevated interest rates and any shutdowns of the U.S. federal government;
- changes in gold and antimony commodity prices;
- our ability to implement our strategic plan and to maintain and manage growth effectively;
- our reliance on outside consultants for critical services;
- our ongoing relationship with our major shareholders and the investor rights agreements we have entered into with our strategic partners;
- loss of key executives or the inability to hire or retain key executives or employees to support construction, permitting and operational activities;
- high levels of competition within the mining industry and the potential for increased supply of antimony;
- the impact of weather and natural disasters on construction and transportation;
- availability of equipment, labor, materials and services required for construction and operation of the Project, including the Company's ability to obtain supplies and equipment when needed and at expected prices;
- performance by construction and service contractors of their obligations under agreements;
- our ability to successfully negotiate construction and services contracts on acceptable terms;
- labor shortages and disruptions;
- cyber-attacks and other security breaches of our information and technology systems; and
- other factors and risks described under the heading "Risk Factors" in *Item 1A* of this Quarterly Report.

Statements concerning mineral resource and mineral reserve estimates may also be deemed to constitute forward-looking information to the extent that such statements involve estimates of the mineralization that may be encountered if a property is developed.

With respect to forward-looking information contained herein, the Company has applied several material factors or assumptions including, but not limited to, assumptions that the U.S. EXIM financing application will be reviewed and approved within the expected timeframe at the amount equal to or higher than the amount indicated in the related letter of intent and preliminary, non-binding indicative financing term sheet received from U.S. EXIM as part of a Preliminary Project Letter ("PPL"); that the Company will be able to satisfy the conditions to obtain a funding commitment from U.S. EXIM and to receive committed funds when needed; that the Company's proposed financing package will be sufficient to finance permitting, pre-construction and construction of the Project or that the Company will be able to secure alternate financing if necessary; that the Company will be able to maintain compliance with covenants contained in its financing agreements or that may be contained in future financing agreements; that the Company will be able to satisfy additional bonding or financial assurance requirements in the future; that no pending or future litigation will result in the loss of any permits or material delay to the Project schedule or a material increase to Project costs; that the current exploration, development, environmental and other objectives concerning the Project can be achieved and that the Company's other corporate activities will proceed as expected; that general business and economic conditions will not change in a materially adverse manner and that permitting, construction and operations costs will not materially increase; that certain assumptions as to production rates, operating costs, recovery and metal costs will prove to be accurate; that any additional financing needed will be available when needed on reasonable terms; that all requisite information will be available in a timely manner; that the current price and demand for gold, antimony and other metals will be sustained or will improve; that the Company will satisfy or will continue to satisfy the requirements of applicable federal and state law and the requirements of various governmental approvals; that the Company or applicable governmental agencies will be able to successfully defend against any challenges to governmental approvals for the planned exploration, construction, development, operation and environmental protection activities on the Project; and that the continuity of economic and political conditions and operations of the Company will be sustained.

These risks are not exhaustive. Because of these risks and other uncertainties, our actual results, performance or achievement, or industry results, may be materially different from the anticipated or estimated results discussed in the forward-

looking statements in this Quarterly Report. New risk factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for our management to predict all risk factors nor can we assess the effects of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in, or implied by, any forward-looking statements. Our past results of operations are not necessarily indicative of our future results. You should not rely on any forward-looking statements, which represent our beliefs, assumptions and estimates only as of the dates on which they were made, as predictions of future events. We undertake no obligation to update these forward-looking statements, even though circumstances may change in the future, except as required under applicable securities laws. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary statements.

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

Perpetua Resources Corp. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Unaudited)

		September 30, 2025		December 31, 2024
ASSETS				
CURRENT ASSETS				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	445,834,284	\$	44,104,825
Receivables (Note 7)		2,615,808		2,585,309
Prepaids		1,101,157		662,446
Deposits (Note 6)	_	10,603,583	_	
	_	460,154,832	_	47,352,580
NON-CURRENT ASSETS				
Buildings and equipment, net		1,457,080		443,080
Right-of-use assets		48,707		28,289
Deposits (Note 6)		13,105,337		-
Environmental reclamation bond		3,000,000		3,000,000
Mineral properties and interest (Note 3)		67,120,990		66,786,048
TOTAL ASSETS	\$_	544,886,946	\$_	117,609,997
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY CURRENT LIABILITIES				
Trade and other payables	\$	10,843,385	\$	5,722,979
Lease liabilities		48,706		28,288
CWA settlement payable (Note 6)	_	-	_	1,000,000
	_	10,892,091	_	6,751,267
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES				
CWA settlement payable (Note 6)	_	2,000,000	_	2,000,000
TOTAL LIABILITIES	_	12,892,091	_	8,751,267
COMMITMENT AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 6)				
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (Note 4)				
Common shares, without par value, unlimited shares authorized,				
107,616,062 and 70,266,550 shares outstanding, respectively		1,136,586,740		668,664,443
Additional capital		30,576,132		35,375,252
Accumulated deficit	_	(635,168,017)	_	(595,180,965)
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY	_	531,994,855	_	108,858,730
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY	\$	544,886,946	\$	117,609,997

Perpetua Resources Corp. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)

	For the three months ended September 30,			 For the nine i Septem		
		2025		2024	 2025	 2024
EXPENSES						
Corporate salaries and benefits	\$	411,167	\$	572,176	\$ 1,097,045	\$ 1,618,354
Depreciation		35,694		30,886	98,884	88,639
Directors' fees		54,403		54,436	356,330	371,518
Exploration		32,127,183		14,510,853	56,187,149	31,517,250
Environmental liability expense		-		854,662	-	1,422,288
General and administration		197,100		140,829	478,887	403,966
Professional fees		791,872		253,185	1,754,008	1,046,200
Shareholder and regulatory		120,121		117,880	 467,523	 381,745
OPERATING LOSS		33,737,540		16,534,907	 60,439,826	 36,849,960
OTHER (INCOME) EXPENSES Grant income (Note 7) Interest income Other (income) expenses Total other (income) expenses		(3,332,365) (4,673,147) 24,092 (7,981,420)		(12,920,417) (41,810) (7,700) (12,969,927)	 (14,636,934) (5,815,137) (703) (20,452,774)	(26,565,798) (101,168) 226 (26,666,740)
NET LOSS	\$	25,756,120	\$	3,564,980	\$ 39,987,052	\$ 10,183,220
NET LOSS PER SHARE, BASIC AND DILUTED	\$	0.24	\$	0.05	\$ 0.47	\$ 0.16
WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING, BASIC AND DILUTED		107,020,838		65,537,015	84,838,623	64,735,961

Perpetua Resources Corp.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (Unaudited)
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024

	Comm	Common Shares		Additional Accumulated				
	Shares		Amount	Capital		Deficit		Total
BALANCE, December 31, 2023	64,123,456	\$	618,581,910	\$ 34,413,562	\$	(580,697,964)	\$	72,297,508
Share-based compensation	-		-	1,008,077		-		1,008,077
Share units distributed	228,422		846,107	(846,107)		-		-
Net loss for the period	-		-	-		(2,944,525)		(2,944,525)
BALANCE, March 31, 2024	64,351,878		619,428,017	 34,575,532		(583,642,489)		70,361,060
Share-based compensation	-		-	950,158		-		950,158
Share units distributed	13,333		54,932	(54,932)		-		-
Exercise of share purchase options	228,341		1,539,900	(553,873)		-		986,027
Net loss for the period	-		-	-		(3,673,715)		(3,673,715)
BALANCE, June 30, 2024	64,593,552		621,022,849	34,916,885		(587,316,204)		68,623,530
Share-based compensation	-		-	947,537		-		947,537
Share units distributed	1,395		6,682	(6,682)		-		-
Share sold through offering	1,834,104		11,005,174	-		-		11,005,174
Share issuance costs	-		(606,871)	-		-		(606,871)
Exercise of share purchase options	140,325		1,249,450	(448,817)		-		800,633
Net loss for the period	-		-	-		(3,564,980)		(3,564,980)
BALANCE, September 30, 2024	66,569,376	\$	632,677,284	\$ 35,408,923	\$	(590,881,184)	\$	77,205,023
BALANCE, December 31, 2024	70,266,550	\$	668,664,443	\$ 35,375,252	\$	(595,180,965)	\$	108,858,730
Share-based compensation			-	1,215,828		-		1,215,828
Share units distributed	921,294		4,905,939	(4,905,939)		-		· · · -
Exercise of share purchase options	98,000		1,062,214	(381,572)		-		680,642
Net loss for the period	-		-	-		(8,204,603)		(8,204,603)
BALANCE, March 31, 2025	71,285,844		674,632,596	31,303,569		(603,385,568)		102,550,597
Share sold through offering	32,197,757		425,010,392	-		-		425,010,392
Share issuance costs	-		(13,901,456)	-		-		(13,901,456)
Share-based compensation	-		-	475,557		-		475,557
Share units distributed	195,661		922,276	(922,276)		-		-
Exercise of share purchase options	193,000		2,551,208	(915,945)		-		1,635,263
Net loss for the period	-		-	-		(6,026,329)		(6,026,329)
BALANCE, June 30, 2025	103,872,262		1,089,215,016	29,940,905		(609,411,897)		509,744,024
Share sold through offering	3,693,300		48,751,560	-		-		48,751,560
Share issuance costs	-		(1,950,062)	-		-		(1,950,062)
Share-based compensation	-		-	862,130		-		862,130
Share units distributed	10,000		34,700	(34,700)		-		-
Exercise of share purchase options	40,500		535,526	(192,203)		-		343,323
Net loss for the period				 <u> </u>		(25,756,120)		(25,756,120)
BALANCE, September 30, 2025	107,616,062	\$	1,136,586,740	\$ 30,576,132	\$	(635,168,017)	\$	531,994,855

Perpetua Resources Corp. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)

	For the nine months ended September 30,					
		2025		2024		
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:						
Net loss	\$	(39,987,052)	\$	(10,183,220)		
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:						
Share-based compensation (Note 4)		2,553,515		2,905,772		
Depreciation		98,884		88,639		
Environmental liability expense		-		1,422,288		
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss		(14,692)		3,193		
Gain on sale of equipment		-		(13,333)		
Changes in:						
Receivables		(30,499)		(5,641,276)		
Prepaids		(438,711)		(281,721)		
Deposits – Current		(10,603,583)		-		
Trade and other payables		5,120,407		2,298,579		
CWA settlement payable		(1,000,000)		(500,000)		
Environmental reclamation liabilities		-		(1,937,538)		
Net cash used in operating activities		(44,301,731)		(11,838,617)		
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:						
Deposit on equipment purchase		(13,105,337)		(199,568)		
Proceeds from sale of silver royalty		-		8,335,115		
Investment in mineral properties and interest		(334,942)		(333,230)		
Purchase of building and equipment		(1,112,884)		(176,270)		
Proceeds from sale of equipment		-		12,000		
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities		(14,553,163)		7,638,047		
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:						
Proceeds from sale of common shares		473,761,952		11,005,174		
Payment of share issue costs		(15,851,519)		(606,871)		
Proceeds from exercise of share purchase options (Note 6)		2,659,228		1,786,660		
Net cash provided by financing activities		460,569,661		12,184,963		
Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents		14,692		(3,193)		
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		401,729,459		7,981,200		
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period		44,104,825		3,229,462		
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period	\$	445,834,284	\$	11,210,662		
NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES						
Recognition of operating lease liability and right-of-use asset	\$	68,247	\$	65,972		

Perpetua Resources Corp.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation

Perpetua Resources Corp. (the "Corporation", and, together with its Subsidiaries, the "Company", "Perpetua Resources" or "Perpetua") was incorporated on February 22, 2011 under the Business Corporation Act of British Columbia. The Corporation was organized to hold shares in wholly owned subsidiaries that locate, acquire, develop and restore mineral properties located principally in the Stibnite – Yellow Pine mining district in Valley County, Idaho, USA. The Corporation's principal asset is 100% ownership in subsidiaries that control the Stibnite Gold Project ("Stibnite Gold Project"). The Company currently operates in one segment, which is mineral exploration in the United States.

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") and include the accounts of Perpetua Resources Corp. and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Perpetua Resources Idaho, Inc. and Idaho Gold Resource Company, LLC. Intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements do not include all disclosures required of annual consolidated financial statements and, accordingly, should be read in conjunction with our annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024. Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to be consistent with current period presentation.

In the opinion of the Company, the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments, consisting of only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair statement of the results for the interim periods reported. Operating results for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 may not be indicative of results expected for the full year ending December 31, 2025. Management estimates that the Company's 2025 effective tax rate will be 0% due to the Company's cumulative loss position, historical net operating losses ("NOLs"), and other available evidence related to the Company's ability to generate taxable income. Accordingly, there is no income tax provision or benefit for the nine months ended September 30, 2025.

In our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024, we reported substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern due to lack of sufficient funding to meet the Company's ongoing obligations or advance construction readiness activities for a period of 12 months from the date the annual financial statements were issued. Additional funding was received during 2025 and we have determined our current cash balance is sufficient to satisfy the Company's ongoing obligations and to continue construction readiness activities and other ongoing operations for at least 12 months from the date these financial statements are issued.

The Company's long-term plan is to generate future profitable operations through the development of the Stibnite Gold Project, which will require additional financing. The Company does not intend to commence full construction on the Project until full financing is in place for construction of the Project. While such financing is expected to be secured in 2026, if such financing is delayed, the Company has flexibility to defer or delay such expenses until financing is in place. The financing package is expected to include project financing from U.S. EXIM or other sources as well as proceeds from the Company's recently closed equity offerings.

On September 8, 2025, the Company received a preliminary, non-binding indicative financing term sheet from U.S. EXIM as part of a Preliminary Project Letter conveying U.S. EXIM's initial due diligence findings to Perpetua on its application for \$2 billion in debt financing from U.S. EXIM for the Stibnite Gold Project. Perpetua continues to work with U.S. EXIM to advance through the next stages of U.S. EXIM's due diligence and loan application process. If the due diligence process is successful, the Company anticipates US EXIM Board consideration by the spring of 2026. Any funding commitment will be dependent on meeting U.S. EXIM's underwriting criteria, authorization process, finalization and satisfaction of terms and conditions. The amount and timing of such funding from U.S. EXIM, if any, is uncertain and subject to conditions outside the Company's control.

We believe our Project financing plans will be successful, although there can be no assurance that the Company will successfully complete all of its contemplated plans because these plans are not entirely within our control as of the date hereof. As such, Perpetua remains open to strategic funding opportunities that support Perpetua's overall financing and development goals for the Project, which may include the issuance of additional equity, new debt, or project specific debt; government funding; offtake, royalty or streaming arrangements; and/or other financing or strategic opportunities. The future receipt of potential funding from these and/or other means cannot be considered certain at this time. In the event Project funding is not available in the amounts or at the times anticipated, the Company may defer certain activities to ensure available cash resources are sufficient to satisfy the Company anticipated expenses until such full project financing is in place.

Loss per share

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted loss per share is computed similar to basic loss per share except that the weighted average shares outstanding are increased to include additional shares for the assumed exercise of share purchase options and vesting and distribution of awarded share units, if dilutive. The Company's potential dilutive common shares include outstanding share purchase options, restricted share units ("RSUs"), performance share units ("PSUs"), and deferred share units ("DSUs"). Potentially dilutive shares as of September 30, 2025 and 2024, are as follows:

	Septembe	er 30,
	2025	2024
Share purchase options	353,000	946,209
Share units (RSU, PSU, DSU)	1,638,215	2,260,750
Balance	1,991,215	3,206,959

All potentially dilutive shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share as their exercise and conversion would be anti-dilutive.

2. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Updates ("ASU") 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvement to Income Tax Disclosures, amending income tax disclosure requirements for the effective tax rate reconciliation and income taxes paid. The amendments in ASU 2023-09 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024 and are applied prospectively. Early adoption and retrospective application of the amendments are permitted. The Company does not expect the adoption to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements or disclosures.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses, which requires disclosure about the types of costs and expenses included in certain expense captions presented on the income statement. The new disclosure requirements are effective for the Company's annual periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted, and may be applied either prospectively or retrospectively. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this adoption on our consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the FASB that are adopted by the Company as of the specified effective date. Unless otherwise discussed, management believes that the impact of recently issued standards did not or will not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements upon adoption.

3. Mineral Properties and Interest

The Company's mineral properties and interest at the Stibnite Gold Project totaled \$67,120,990 and \$66,786,048 as of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, respectively.

The Company's subsidiaries acquired mineral rights to the Stibnite Gold Project through several transactions. All mineral and surface rights, where applicable, are held by the Company's subsidiaries through patented and unpatented lode mining claims and mill sites, except the Cinnabar option claims which are held under an option to purchase. All of the Stibnite Gold Project is subject to a 1.7% Net Smelter Return ("NSR") royalty upon the sale of project-related gold production.

On March 21, 2024, Perpetua Resources and its subsidiaries granted a perpetual 100% NSR royalty on the future payable silver production from the Project to Franco-Nevada Idaho Corporation ("Franco-Nevada") for gross proceeds of \$8,500,000. The silver royalty agreement applies to the same properties as the gold royalty previously purchased by Franco-Nevada in 2013. The silver royalty agreement provides a mechanism whereby Franco-Nevada can receive minimum payments equal to 100% of the payable silver from the sale of doré commencing in the seventh calendar year following commercial production and ending upon the completion of the fifteenth calendar year following commercial production. The silver royalty agreement also provides Franco-Nevada an option upon the occurrence of certain conditions precedent (including achieving commercial production) to pay the Company a contingent payment and receive a royalty on any silver payable from the production of antimony concentrate from the Project. The

Company incurred costs of \$164,835 associated with this transaction. The net proceeds of \$8,335,115 were recorded as a reduction to the carrying value of the mineral properties and interests during the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Company's obligations under the gold and silver royalty agreements with Franco-Nevada are secured by a continuing security interest and a first priority lien on certain collateral including the land and mineral interests comprising the Project.

Included in mineral properties and interest are annual payments made under option agreements, where the Company is entitled to continue to make annual option payments or, ultimately, purchase certain properties.

As of September 30, 2025, it has not yet been determined that the Project's mining deposits can be economically and legally extracted or produced because the Project's estimated reserves do not yet meet the definition of proven reserves under the United States SEC Regulation S-K 1300. Accordingly, development costs related to such reserves will not be capitalized unless they are incurred after such determination. Upon commencement of commercial production, capitalized costs will be amortized over their estimated useful lives or units of production, whichever is a more reliable measure.

Although the Company has taken steps to review and verify mineral rights to the properties in which it has an interest, in accordance with industry standards for properties in the development stage, these procedures do not guarantee the Company's title and interests. Mineral title may be subject to unregistered prior agreements and noncompliance with regulatory requirements.

4. Shareholders' Equity

a. Authorized

- Unlimited number of common shares without par value.
- Unlimited number of first preferred shares without par value.
- Unlimited number of second preferred shares without par value.

b. Offerings

Equity Offerings: On June 11, 2025, the Corporation entered into an underwriting agreement providing for the sale by the Corporation of 22,728,000 shares of its common shares to the underwriters at a price of \$13.20 per share. On June 12, 2025, the Corporation entered into an amended and restated underwriting agreement (such underwriting agreement, as amended and restated, the "Underwriting Agreement") in order to increase the number of common shares issued and sold in the offering to an aggregate of 24,622,000 shares at a price of \$13.20 per share. In connection with this offering, the Corporation entered into an agreement with Paulson & Co. Inc. ("Paulson") to purchase 7,575,757 common shares in a concurrent private placement at the same offering price of \$13.20 per share. Prior to entering this private placement agreement, Paulson held in the aggregate approximately 35% ownership of the Corporation's common shares and therefore, this concurrent private placement was considered a related party transaction. These sales closed on June 16, 2026. Aggregate proceeds received were approximately \$411.1 million, which is net of offering costs of approximately \$13.9 million.

Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the Corporation granted the underwriters an option to purchase up to an additional 3,693,300 shares within 30 days of the offering, which the underwriters exercised on July 10, 2025. The sale of the option shares closed on July 14, 2025. Proceeds received from the sale of common shares pursuant to the option were approximately \$46.8 million, which is net of offering costs of approximately \$2.0 million.

Subsequent to quarter end, the Corporation completed several additional equity offerings that are described in Note 9.

c. Share-based compensation

Share-based compensation was recognized in the unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations as follows:

_	Three months ended September 30,			Nine months September		
	2025		2024	2025	2024	
Exploration	\$ 552,468	\$	493,871	\$ 1,677,426 \$	1,441,800	
Corporate salaries and benefits	262,248		399,230	540,592	1,092,454	
Directors' fees	47,414		54,436	335,497	371,518	
Total	\$ 862,130	\$	947,537	\$ 2,553,515 \$	2,905,772	

Share purchase options

The following table summarizes activity for share purchase option activity awarded under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the "Plan") that vest over the required service period of the participant:

	Number of	Weighte	d Average
	Options	Exercise	Price (C\$)
Balance December 31, 2023	1,665,750	\$	9.54
Options exercised	(619,375)		8.04
Options expired	(350,875)		9.52
Balance December 31, 2024	695,500	\$	10.88
Options exercised	(331,500)		11.11
Options expired	(11,000)		6.20
Balance September 30, 2025	353,000	\$	10.82

The fair value of options granted is estimated at the time of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The risk-free interest rate is based on the government security rate with an equivalent term in effect as of the date of grant. The expected option lives and volatility assumptions are based on historical data of the Company. No options were granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and September 30, 2024.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, the Company's total share-based compensation from options was \$nil (September 30, 2024: nil) and \$nil (September 30, 2024: nil), respectively.

As of September 30, 2025, share purchase options outstanding and exercisable were 353,000 and 263,000, respectively, have a weighted average exercise price of C\$10.82 and C\$11.39, respectively, and have a remaining weighted average life of 0.36 years and 0.33 years, respectively. As of September 30, 2025, all unvested options are expected to vest and there is no unvested compensation.

As of September 30, 2025, the intrinsic value of outstanding and exercisable share purchase options is approximately \$4.3 million and \$3.2 million, respectively. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, the intrinsic value of share purchase options exercised was \$391,497 (September 30, 2024: \$456,237) and \$2,000,193 (September 30, 2024: \$897,381), respectively.

Restricted Share Units

The following table summarizes activity for RSUs awarded under the Plan that vest over the required service period of the participant:

Weighted Average

	Share Units	Grant Date Fair Value		
Unvested, December 31, 2023	601,640	\$	3.64	
Granted	521,128		3.10	
Distributed (vested)	(248,755)		3.76	
Cancelled	(2,285)		3.72	
Unvested, December 31, 2024	871,728	\$	3.28	
Granted	248,777		8.35	
Distributed (vested)	(459,091)		3.39	
Cancelled	(86,314)		4.36	
Unvested, September 30, 2025	575,100	\$	5.22	

During the nine months ended September 30, 2025, the Company awarded 248,777 RSUs (September 30, 2024: 515,128 RSUs) with a weighted average grant date fair value of \$8.35 per RSU (September 30, 2024: \$3.02) or approximately \$2.1 million in total (September 30, 2024: \$1.6 million). During the nine months ended September 30, 2025, the fair value of RSU awards distributed was approximately \$4.7 million (September 30, 2024: \$1.1 million).

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, the Company recognized \$401,336 (September 30, 2024: \$367,132) and \$1,088,638 (September 30, 2024: \$1,059,073), respectively, in compensation expense related to RSUs and expects to record an additional \$1.5 million in compensation expense over the next 1.48 years.

The unvested units as of September 30, 2025 are expected to vest as follows:

Remainder of 2025	7,000
2026	289,436
2027	202,961
2028	75,703
Total	575,100

Pursuant to the terms of the Plan, unvested units will be forfeited by participants upon termination of employment in advance of vesting, with the exception of termination due to retirement if certain criteria are met, termination by the Company without cause and upon death or disability.

Performance Share Units

The following table summarizes activity for PSUs and market-based performance share units ("MPSUs") awarded under the Plan that vest over the required service period of the participant:

		Weighte	d Average
	Share	Grai	nt Date
	Units	Fair	Value
Unvested, December 31, 2023	546,583	\$	6.35
Granted	515,502		4.81
Distributed	(1,395)		4.79
Cancelled	(3,247)		4.92
Unvested, December 31, 2024	1,057,443	\$	5.61
Granted	176,481		12.53
Added by performance factor on 2022 MPSUs	246,318		6.99
Distributed	(637,081)		6.59
Cancelled	(124,657)		6.25
Unvested, September 30, 2025	718,504	\$	6.80

During the nine months ended September 30, 2025, the fair value of PSU and MPSU awards distributed was approximately \$6.0 million (September 30, 2024: \$nil).

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, the Company recognized \$413,380 (September 30, 2024: \$525,969) and \$1,129,380 (September 30, 2024: \$1,439,175), respectively, in compensation expense related to PSUs and MPSUs and expects to record an additional \$2.4 million in compensation expense over the next 1.98 years. The unvested units as of September 30, 2025 are expected to vest as follows:

Remainder of 2025	56,000
2026	224,969
2027	278,257
2028	159,278
Total	718,504

Pursuant to the terms of the Plan, unvested units will be forfeited by participants upon termination of employment in advance of vesting, with the exception of termination due to retirement if certain criteria are met, termination by the Company without cause and upon death or disability.

PSUs: These PSUs vest upon completion of the performance period and specific performance conditions set forth for each individual grant for individually defined reporting and operating measurement objectives. The Company determines the factor to be applied to that target number of PSUs, with such percentage based on level of achievement of the performance conditions. Upon the achievement of the conditions, any unvested PSUs become fully vested.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2025, the Company awarded nil PSUs (2024: 120,000 PSUs) that had a weighted average grant date fair value of \$\\$\ni\!i\ (2024: \\$3.95), or \$\\$\ni\!i\ (2024: \\$474,000) in total.

Market-based PSUs: During the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company granted MPSUs where vesting is based on the Company's cumulative total shareholder return ("TSR") as compared to the constituents that comprise the VanEck Junior Gold Miners ETF ("GDXJ Index") a group of similar junior gold mining companies, over a three-year period (the "Performance Period"). The ultimate number of MPSUs that vest may range from 0% to 200% of the original target number of shares depending on the relative achievement of the TSR performance measure at the end of the Performance Period. Because the number of MPSUs that are earned will be based on the Company's TSR over the Performance Period, the MPSUs are considered subject to a market condition. Compensation cost is recognized ratably over the Performance Period regardless as to whether the market condition is actually satisfied; however, the compensation cost will reverse if an employee terminates prior to satisfying the requisite service period.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2025, the Company awarded 176,481 MPSUs (2024: 389,502 MPSUs) that had a weighted grant date fair value of \$12.53 (2024: \$5.00) per MPSU or approximately \$2.2 million (2024: \$1.9 million) in total. The grant date fair value of MPSUs was estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation model. Assumptions and estimates utilized in the model include expected volatilities of the Corporation's share price and the GDXJ Index, the Company's risk-free interest rate and expected dividends. The probabilities of the actual number of MPSUs expected to vest and resultant actual number of common shares expected to be awarded are reflected in the grant date fair values of the various MPSU awards. The per MPSU grant date fair value for the market condition was based on the following variables:

	2025	2024
Grant date fair value	\$12.53	\$5.00
Risk-free interest rate	4.15%	4.38%
Expected term (in years)	3.0	3.0
Expected share price volatility	55.16%	57.36%
Expected dividend yield	Nil	Nil

The expected volatility utilized is based on the historical volatilities of the Corporation's common shares and the GDXJ Index in order to model the stock price movements. The volatility used was calculated over the most recent three year period. The risk-free interest rates used are based on the implied yield available on a U.S. Treasury zero-coupon bill with a term equivalent to the Performance Period. The expected dividend yield of zero was used since it is the mathematical equivalent to reinvesting dividends in each issuing entity over the Performance Period.

Deferred Share Units

The following table summarizes activity for DSUs awarded under the Plan that vest on the date of grant and settle upon the participant's separation from service:

Waighted Average

	Share Grant Da Units Fair Valu						
Outstanding, December 31, 2023	226,574	\$	3.68				
Granted	115,107		4.01				
Outstanding, December 31, 2024	341,681	\$	3.79				
Granted	33,713		9.95				
Distributed	(30,783)		3.46				
Outstanding, September 30, 2025	344,611	\$	4.42				

Under the Plan, the Company may issue DSUs to non-employee directors. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, 2,514 (September 30, 2024: 5,822) and 33,713 (September 30, 2024: 110,005) share units, respectively, with a fair value of \$47,414 (September 30, 2024: \$54,436) and \$335,497 (September 30, 2024: \$407,523) were granted to the non-employee directors and the related compensation expense was charged to directors' fees in the consolidated statements of operations.

5. Environmental Reclamation Liability

On January 15, 2021, the Company agreed to an Administrative Settlement Agreement and Order on Consent ("ASAOC"). The Company has accounted for its obligation under the ASAOC as an environmental reclamation liability. The provision for the liability associated with the terms of the ASAOC is based on cost estimates developed with the use of engineering consultants, independent contractor quotes and the Company's internal development team.

The timing of cash flows is based on the latest schedule for early action items. The estimated environmental reclamation liability may be subject to change based on changes to cost estimates and is adjusted for actual work performed. During the nine months ended September 30, 2025, the Company did not perform any work on early action items (September 30, 2024: \$1.9 million). As of September 30, 2025, no further costs were accrued associated with this liability. Movements in the environmental reclamation liability during the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

	Nine months ended September 30,					
	2025			2024		
Balance at beginning of period	\$	_	\$	764,607		
Additions		-		1,422,288		
Work performed on early action items		-		(1,937,538)		
Balance at end of period	\$	-	\$	249,357		
Current portion	\$	-	\$	249,357		
Non-current portion		<u>-</u>				
Balance at end of period	\$	-	\$	249,357		

In 2021, the Company provided \$7.5 million in financial assurance for Phase 1 projects under the ASAOC. The Company paid \$3.0 million in cash collateral for a surety bond related to the ASAOC statement of work in early 2021.

6. Commitments and Contingencies

a. Mining Claim Assessments

The Company currently holds mining claims and mill sites for which it has an annual assessment obligation of \$334,800 to maintain the claims in good standing. The Company is committed to these payments indefinitely.

b. <u>Vendor Deposits - Idaho Power Company Procurement Contract</u>

On February 13, 2025, the Company entered into an agreement with Idaho Power Company ("IPCo") to begin procurement of long lead equipment required to increase the electrical capacity to the plant. This is an important step to ensure parts are available for installation under a future construction agreement. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company is responsible for paying all costs incurred by IPCo as they procure new equipment from vendors with an estimated total cost of \$90.2 million. All contractual commitments of \$1.0 million or greater must be approved by the Company prior to IPCo entering a binding contractual commitment with a vendor. The initial payment of \$18.8 million was paid following execution of the procurement agreement and remaining payments are expected to be made quarterly through 2027. Payment dates and amounts may be adjusted to reflect specific contracts entered into by IPCo. If the agreement is terminated, IPCo will use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate cancellation costs and recover value prior to the final true-up payment by the Company or refund to the Company.

The deposit with IPCo is updated each reporting period to reflect payments made to IPCo and costs incurred by IPCo. Costs incurred are currently charged to exploration in the consolidated statements of operations in accordance with the Company's accounting policies. Movements in the IPCo deposit during the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

	Nine months ended September 30						
	'	2025		2024			
Balance at beginning of period	\$	_	\$	_			
Deposits		18,759,381		-			
Costs incurred - expense		(10,309,237)		-			
Balance at end of period	\$	8,450,144	\$				
Current portion	\$	8,450,144	\$	-			
Non-current portion		<u>-</u>		<u>-</u>			
Balance at end of period	\$	8,450,144	\$				

c. Vendor Deposits - ATCO Camp Supply and Installation Contract

On August 29, 2025, the Company entered into a camp supply and installation agreement with ATCO Structures & Logistics (USA) Inc. ("ATCO") for the design, construction and installation of a 1,010-person turnkey camp accommodation and site package. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company agreed to pay ATCO \$131.7

million for work under the agreement. Except for certain specified owner and third-party work outlined in the agreement, the work to be performed by ATCO includes all of the work required for the procurement of all camp infrastructure, transportation and delivery of materials to the site, performance of all site preparation, installation, and utility tie-ins, and commissioning of the facilities for occupancy. The agreement includes standard provisions allowing for equitable adjustments to the contract price, including in connection with certain tax events, scope modifications, or demobilization exclusions at the Company's election. If ATCO fails to achieve substantial completion of the applicable portion of the work prior to September 24, 2026 (as may be adjusted pursuant to the terms of the agreement), ATCO will be liable for liquidated damages up to a specified cap. The Company may terminate the agreement for convenience by giving 30 days' notice to ATCO. In the event of a termination for convenience, the Company would be obligated to pay ATCO for work properly executed and materials satisfactorily supplied; costs incurred in terminating, preserving and protecting the work; and demobilization costs. The initial payments totaling \$13.35 million were paid following execution of the agreement and remaining payments are expected to be made monthly through April 2027.

The deposit with ATCO is updated each reporting period to reflect payments made to ATCO and costs incurred by ATCO. The ATCO modular buildings have an alternative future use or could be resold such that certain costs will be recorded as a non-current deposit and transferred to construction in process over the performance period before being recognized as an asset upon completion. Certain other costs that are unique to the Company and do not have an alternative future use will be charged as incurred to exploration in the consolidated statements of operations in accordance with the Company's accounting policies. Movements in the ATCO deposit during the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

	Nine months ended September 30,								
		2025		2024					
Balance at beginning of period	\$	_	\$	-					
Deposits		13,350,000		-					
Costs incurred – expense		(244,663)		-					
Costs incurred – asset		- -		-					
Balance at end of period	\$	13,105,337	\$	_					
Current portion	\$	-	\$	-					
Non-current portion		13,105,337		-					
Balance at end of period	\$	13,105,337	\$	-					

d. Vendor Deposits - Other

In addition to the material vendor agreements discussed in Notes 6b and 6c, the Company has also entered into certain other agreements related to long-lead equipment, infrastructure and services related to the development of the Project. These agreements contain certain fixed and determinable cost components, as well as components that are variable based on time and materials. Movements in other vendor deposits during the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

	Nine months ended September 30,							
	' <u>'</u>	2025		2024				
Balance at beginning of period	\$	_	\$		-			
Deposits		2,153,439			-			
Costs incurred – expense		-			-			
Costs incurred – asset		-			-			
Balance at end of period	\$	2,153,439	\$		_			
Current portion	\$	2,153,439	\$		-			
Non-current portion								
Balance at end of period	\$	2,153,439	\$					

e. Stibnite Foundation

The Stibnite Foundation ("Foundation") was established in February 2019 to support projects that benefit the communities surrounding the Stibnite Gold Project and created through the establishment of the Community Agreement between Perpetua Resources Idaho, Inc. and eight communities and counties throughout the West Central Mountains region of Idaho.

Upon formation of the Foundation, the Company became contractually liable for certain future payments to the Foundation based on several triggering events, including receipt of a final Record of Decision ("ROD") issued by the U.S. Forest Service ("USFS"), receipt of all permits and approvals necessary for commencement of construction, commercial production, and of the final reclamation phase.

Since 2019, the Company has contributed, or caused to be contributed, \$750,000 in cash and 150,000 in common shares of the Company which includes \$450,000 in cash contributions during the nine months ended September 30, 2025 (September 30, 2024: \$nil). Future cash payments due include \$500,000 upon commercial production, annual payments during commercial production as described below, and \$1.0 million upon commencement of final reclamation phase. There is also a future issuance of 150,000 common shares of the Company upon receipt of all permits for construction. During commercial production, the Company will make annual payments to the Stibnite Foundation equal to 1% of total comprehensive income less debt repayments, or a minimum of \$0.5 million each year.

f. Option Payments on Other Properties

The Company is obligated to make option payments on mineral properties in order to maintain an option to purchase these properties. As of September 30, 2025, the option payments due on these properties in 2025 are approximately \$30,000, which will be paid later this year. The agreements include options to extend.

g. Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements as of September 30, 2025.

h. Legal Update

The Corporation and its subsidiaries have been parties to an ongoing legal proceeding with the Nez Perce Tribe for claimed violations of the CWA allegedly linked to historical mining activities. In August 2019, the Nez Perce Tribe filed suit against the Company in the U.S. District Court for the District of Idaho. The Company filed an answer generally denying liability and later, the court allowed the Company to amend and file a third-party complaint against the USFS. The Company also filed a separate CWA citizen suit against the USFS alleging that several of the point source discharges, as alleged by the Nez Perce Tribe in its complaint, were occurring on lands owned and controlled by the United States government. Pursuant to the terms of the voluntary ASAOC executed in January 2021 with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("U.S. EPA") and the United States Department of Agriculture ("USDA"), the Company agreed to dismiss its pending actions against the USFS without prejudice.

On August 8, 2023, the Company and the Nez Perce Tribe filed a final Settlement Agreement (the "Settlement Agreement") to resolve the Tribe's CWA claims. The parties jointly asked the court to approve the Settlement Agreement and dismiss the case without prejudice. The Settlement Agreement provides for total payments of \$5.0 million by Perpetua over a four-year period. This includes \$4.0 million of contributions by Perpetua to the Fund to be used by the Nez Perce Tribe to support water quality improvement projects in the South Fork Salmon River watershed and \$1.0 million of reimbursements to the Nez Perce Tribe for legal expenses. Following a 45-day review period by the United States Justice Department and the U.S. EPA, the U.S. District Court for the District of Idaho approved the Stipulation for Dismissal and entered a Judgment on October 2, 2023 which resulted in the CWA lawsuit being dismissed without prejudice. Under the Settlement Agreement, the Company anticipates that a dismissal with prejudice will be entered after completion of Perpetua's required payments. Once Perpetua has satisfied its payment obligations under the Settlement Agreement, the Company anticipates that the parties will submit a stipulation for dismissal with prejudice to the District Court. The Company recognized an expense of \$5.0 million during the second quarter of 2023. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, the Company paid \$2,000,000 towards this settlement obligation. As of September 30, 2025, CWA settlement payable current portion is \$nil with the remaining \$2,000,000 classified as long-term.

The voluntary Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act ("CERCLA") ASAOC entered into by the Company, the U.S. EPA, and the USDA required numerous early cleanup actions (referenced as "Phase 1" in the ASAOC) relating to legacy environmental conditions left by other mining companies. The Company began the Phase 1 activities in 2022. As of September 30, 2025, the Company determined it had completed all Phase 1 response actions required by the ASAOC and filed necessary reports (called Removal Action Completion Report ("RACR") in the ASAOC) with the U.S. EPA and USDA with respect to such completion. Pursuant to the terms of the ASAOC, the Company's Phase 1 work will not be considered complete until U.S. EPA and USDA have approved the RACR submitted by the Company. As of September 30, 2025, the RACR remains under review by the federal agencies and no further costs were accrued associated with this Phase 1 liability. During the nine months ended September 30, 2025, the Company spent \$nil on Phase 1 activities (September 30, 2024: \$1.9 million). The ASAOC includes a process under which the Company and the signatory federal agencies will evaluate whether the Company will proceed with additional response actions after federal agencies confirm that the Phase 1 work has been completed

in accordance with the ASAOC requirements. The scope of any such potential additional actions following the completion of Phase 1 and their costs have not yet been determined.

Following the USFS' publication of the ROD and Final Environmental Impact Statement Errata (the "FEIS") authorizing the mine plan for the Project, claims were filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Idaho against the USFS, the USDA and other federal agencies on February 18, 2025 in the United States District Court for the District of Idaho by a number of environmental advocacy groups, including Save the South Fork Salmon, the Idaho Conservation League and other non-governmental organizations, alleging violations of NEPA and other federal laws in the regulatory process. Among other remedies, the claimants seek to vacate the ROD, FEIS, Final Biological Opinions (as defined below), and Project approvals and enjoin any further implementation of the Project. PRII filed a motion to intervene in this lawsuit, which was granted by the District Court on April 2, 2025. The District Court subsequently entered a scheduling order requiring various procedural and dispositive matters, including any motions for summary judgment, to be filed and briefed before December 2025.

On August 29, 2025, the Nez Perce Tribe filed a lawsuit against the USFS, United States Department of Agriculture, and other federal agencies in the United States District Court for the District of Idaho the challenging the USFS ROD and other approvals by the USFS and other federal agencies in connection with the Stibnite Gold Project and alleging violations of the National Environmental Policy Act ("NEPA") and other federal statutes, regulations, rules, and requirements in the regulatory review and approval process in of the Project. Among other remedies, the Tribe seeks to vacate the USFS ROD, the Final Environmental Impact, Final Biological Opinions (as defined below), and other approvals and to enjoin any further implementation of the Project. PRII filed a motion to intervene in this lawsuit, which was granted by the District Court on September 4, 2025. A scheduling order has not been entered in this case.

The U.S. District Court on October 2, 2025 issued a general order staying all civil cases listed in the order due to the partial shutdown of the federal government over appropriations for the government. The list included the separate lawsuits filed by the Nez Perce Tribe and by the environmental mentioned above challenging the USFS ROD and other federal agency approvals. This stay does not affect the validity of the USFS ROD or any of the other approvals challenged in either of these lawsuits in connection with the Stibnite Gold Project, and all such approvals remain in effect.

The Company believes the USFS ROD and other federal regulatory processes challenged in the two foregoing federal lawsuits were conducted thoroughly and completely by the relevant federal regulatory agencies. However, there can be no assurance that the Project approvals challenged in those two cases will be upheld upon judicial review.

The Idaho Board of Environmental Quality ("IBEQ") published an order on May 27, 2025 upholding the air permit to construct ("PTC") issued by the Idaho Department of Quality ("IDEQ") in June 2022 and denying certain petitioners' appeal from various administrative proceedings with respect to the PTC. The IBEQ on June 27, 2025 denied the petitioners' motion for reconsideration. Thereafter, the petitioners filed a petition for judicial review in the Idaho state district court for the County of Ada against the IBEQ and IDEQ seeking to set aside the PTC as violative of applicable law and challenging the decisions of the IBEQ upholding the PTC. IDEQ and the IBEQ thereafter moved to dismiss the complaint on procedural grounds, and the court denied that motion and allowed the petitioners to amend their petition. The petitioners' amended petition, which names the Company as well as IDEQ and the IBEQ as defendants was served on the Company on or about September 23, 2025. A scheduling order has not been entered by the court regarding the amended petition. The Company believes that the IDEQ and the IBEQ properly followed Idaho law in issuing the PTC. However, there can be no assurance that the PTC will be upheld upon judicial review.

On March 20, 2025, a putative federal class action lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the District of Idaho against the Company and certain of its current officers and directors, on behalf of a proposed class of purchasers of the Company's common shares during the period from April 17, 2024 to February 13, 2025, inclusive. The claim, captioned *Barnes et al. v. Perpetua Resources Corp. et al.*, Case No. 1:25-cv-00160, alleges that the defendants violated Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by making false and/or misleading statements during the period from April 17, 2024 to February 13, 2025 regarding the Company's expected capital expenditures for the Stibnite Gold Project. The complaint seeks unspecified compensatory damages. The District Court has issued a scheduling order in this case requiring various procedural and substantive motions to be filed by the parties prior to the end of 2025. These deadlines can be modified by the court. The Company filed a motion to dismiss the plaintiffs' amended complaint on September 30, 2025. The Company believes that the claim is without merit and intends to vigorously defend itself. However, in view of the uncertainties inherent in litigation, the Company does not express a judgment as to the outcome of this litigation.

7. Government Grants

The Company has been awarded government grants by the U.S. Department of War ("DOW") as described below. Accounting for these DOW grants does not fall under Accounting Standard Codification 606, *Revenue from Contracts with Customers*, as the DOW does not meet the definition of a customer under this standard. The DOW grant proceeds, which will be used to reimburse expenses incurred, meet the definition of grants related to expenses as the primary purpose for the payments is to fund research and development on antimony trisulfide and advancement of the Company's Stibnite Gold Project.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, grant income included the following:

	Three months ended September 30, September 3					
Government Grant	2025		2024		2025	2024
DPA	\$ -	\$	12,615,643	\$	10,003,859 \$	23,665,277
DOTC	3,332,365		304,774		4,633,075	2,900,521
Total	\$ 3,332,365	\$	12,920,417	\$	14,636,934 \$	26,565,798

As of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, grant receivable, which is included in receivables on the consolidated balance sheets, include the following:

	September 30, 2025	D	December 31, 2024		
DPA	\$ -	\$	2,382,594		
DOTC	1,915,015		106,827		
Total	\$ 1,915,015	\$	2,489,421		

Information regarding each individual grant is as follows:

DPA Grant: On December 16, 2022, the Company entered into an undefinitized Technology Investment Agreement ("TIA") with the DOW - Air Force Research Laboratory for an award of up to \$24.8 million under Title III of the DPA. On July 25, 2023, the TIA was definitized with the DOW, establishing the full not-to-exceed amount of \$24.8 million. On May 2, 2024, the TIA was modified with an additional \$34.4 million in funding, bringing the total amount of the TIA to \$59.2 million. The funding objective of the TIA is to complete environmental and engineering studies necessary to obtain a Final Environmental Impact Statement, a ROD, and other ancillary permits to sustain the domestic production of antimony trisulfide capability for defense energetic materials at the Stibnite Gold Project. Proceeds from the grant were used primarily to reimburse the Company for certain costs incurred through June 16, 2025 related to environmental baseline data monitoring, environmental and technical studies and other activities related to advancing the Company's construction readiness and the permitting process for the Stibnite Gold Project. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, the Company received cash from this grant of \$592,242 (2024: \$11,667,011) and \$12,386,454 (2024: \$16,417,506), respectively, for reimbursement of certain costs incurred. The TIA expired on June 16, 2025 and no additional funds are available under the program.

DOW Ordnance Technology Consortium ("DOTC") Grant: On August 18, 2023, the Company was awarded an Ordnance Technology Initiative Agreement ("OTIA") of up to \$15.5 million under the Prototype Other Transaction Authority of the DOW through the DOTC. On May 28, 2025, the Company was awarded up to \$6.9 million in additional funding by the DOTC under the OTIA. The funding objective of the OTIA is to demonstrate a fully domestic antimony trisulfide supply chain using ore from the Stibnite Gold Project. The OTIA designates funding to the Company to conduct activities to meet this objective, including obtaining additional core samples from the Project site, conducting a pilot plant study to produce mil-spec antimony trisulfide from the samples, designing a full-scale process circuit, and delivering a modular pilot plant for the DOW to use in further investigations. Under the OTIA, the Company will be reimbursed for these activities on a cost-plus fixed fee basis over the 24-month period of performance. The current estimated amount is \$22.4 million, which is subject to adjustment by the DOW based on scope, costs, budget, or other factors as the program advances. Perpetua will be entitled to reimbursement for all costs incurred under the agreement, with the negotiated fee being 12%. The OTIA contains customary terms and conditions for OTIAs, including ongoing reporting obligations. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, the Company received cash from this grant of \$2,436,321 (September 30, 2024: \$39,329) and \$2,824,887 (September 30, 2024: \$4,505,821), respectively, for reimbursement of certain costs incurred of \$2,175,287 (September 30, 2024: \$35,115) and \$2,522,221 (September 30, 2024: 4,023,054) and 12% fee income of \$261,034 (September 30, 2024: \$4,214) and \$302,666 (September 30, 2024: 482,767), respectively. During the three and nine months ended

September 30, 2025, grant income includes \$357,039 (September 30, 2024: \$32,654) and \$496,401 (September 30, 2024: \$310,770), respectively, of 12% fee income earned on costs incurred.

8. Segment Reporting

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise that engage in activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses for which separate operational financial information is available and is regularly evaluated by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (the "CODM"), who is our Chief Executive Officer ("CEO"), for the purpose of allocating an enterprise's resources and assessing its operating performance. The Company has determined that it operates as a single reportable segment, focused on the exploration of its mineral interests in the state of Idaho, United States. This determination is based on the financial information reviewed by the CODM, which is assessed at a consolidated level.

The CODM is responsible for evaluating performance, allocating resources, and making strategic decisions. The primary measure used to assess the Company's profitability is consolidated net loss, which is used to compare budgeted versus actual results and informs operating cash flow decisions on a monthly basis. The financial position, results of operations, and cash flows of the Company's single reportable segment align with the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements presented herein. The measure of segment assets is reported on the consolidated balance sheet as total assets.

The CEO primarily evaluates the Company's performance based on consolidated net loss and reviews significant expenses, when applicable, on a consolidated basis, consistent with the presentation in the consolidated statements of operations. While the CEO's primary focus is on overall consolidated results, he also reviews supplemental information on exploration costs by major category. The following table presents the Company's exploration costs by major category:

	For the three months ended September 30,			For the nine months ended September 30,			
	 2025		2024		2025		2024
Consulting and labor cost	\$ 3,922,799	\$	1,841,587	\$	9,251,511	\$	5,412,861
Engineering	22,688,621		8,531,804		32,486,009		16,778,292
Environmental and reclamation	35,683		112,037		316,701		282,360
Field operations and drilling support	2,390,295		1,140,253		5,272,927		2,495,489
Legal and sustainability	542,098		319,685		1,467,479		905,679
Permitting	2,547,687		2,565,487		7,392,522		5,642,569
TOTAL EXPLORATION	\$ 32,127,183	\$	14,510,853	\$	56,187,149	\$	31,517,250

9. Subsequent Events

a. Financial Assurance

In connection with the conditional Notice to Proceed from the USFS for the Stibnite Gold Project, which required the Company to post joint construction phase financial assurance bonding agreed to by the USFS, Idaho Department of Lands ("IDL"), and U.S. Army Corps of Engineers ("USACE"), the Company entered into multiple related financial agreements as described below to satisfy the financial assurance requirements necessary to commence construction.

On October 17, 2025, the Company, as principal, and Endurance Assurance Corporation ("Endurance"), a subsidiary of Sompo International, as surety, posted a joint reclamation performance bond for the Project's construction phase in the penal sum of \$139,024,637 (the "Surety Bond") in favor of the United States (acting by and through the USFS as obligee) and the State of Idaho (acting by and through the IDL as co-obligee). The Surety Bond will remain in place until all reclamation obligations subject thereto have been fully performed or until the Company files, and the USFS and IDL accept replacement financial assurance. The Surety Bond carries a 1.5% annual fee, and includes covenants, reporting requirements, collateral maintenance, and event of default provisions.

In connection with the Surety Bond, the Company entered into an indemnity agreement ("Indemnity Agreement") with Endurance, Endurance American Insurance Company, Lexon Insurance Company, and Bond Safeguard Insurance Company (collectively, the "Surety"), all of which are subsidiaries of Sompo International. Under the Indemnity Agreement and the accompanying Disturbed Acres and Minimum Liquidity Rider (collectively, the "Indemnity Agreement"), the Company is contingently liable to fully indemnify and reimburse the Surety for any losses, costs, expenses, fees, interest, and premiums incurred in connection with (i) the execution of any bond undertaken between the Company and the Surety, (ii) as a result of the Company failing to perform or comply with the covenants and conditions of Indemnity Agreement, and (iii) enforcing any of the covenants and conditions of the Indemnity Agreement. The maximum potential undiscounted liability of the Company under the Indemnity

Agreement is the full amount of the Surety Bond (approximately \$139 million), plus all related costs and fees. These obligations are contingent unless triggered by breach or claim, at which point the liability becomes direct.

As collateral for the Surety Bond, on October 15, 2025, The Bank of Nova Scotia (the "Bank") issued an irrevocable standby letter of credit for up to \$35 million in favor of the Surety as beneficiaries (the "Letter of Credit"), for the account of the Company. The Letter of Credit expires one year from issuance, and is automatically extended unless notice of non-extension is provided at least sixty days prior to expiry. The Letter of Credit was issued pursuant to a credit facility agreement between the Bank and the Company, effective as of October 15, 2025 (the "Credit Facility"), which provides for up to \$39.5 million in standby letters of credit and guarantees and is secured by a deposit of \$40.5 million in cash. The Credit Facility carries a 1% annual fee, and includes covenants, reporting requirements, collateral maintenance, and event of default provisions.

b. Equity Offerings

Private Placements

On October 27, 2025, the Corporation entered into subscription agreements with Agnico Eagle and JPMorgan, respectively, pursuant to which the Corporation agreed to sell and issue, for aggregate gross proceeds of US\$255 million (i) 10,944,205 common shares, no par value, of the Corporation at a price of US\$23.30 per common share, 7,725,321 to Agnico Eagle and 3,218,884 to JPMorgan; and (ii) common share purchase warrants (the "Warrants") to purchase up to an aggregate of 4,053,408 common shares at the prices and on the terms and conditions set forth therein and described below (the "Private Placements"). The Private Placements closed on October 28, 2025.

The terms of the Warrants are set forth in warrant certificates delivered at closing and entitle Agnico Eagle and JPMorgan to acquire 2,861,229 and 1,192,179 common shares, respectively (the "Warrant Shares"). Each investor's Warrants were issued in three tranches, with one-third expiring on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the closing date. The one-, two- and three-year Warrants will be exercisable at prices of \$31.46, \$34.95 and \$38.45 per common share, respectively. The Warrants are subject to repurchase by the Corporation if the closing price of the common shares exceeds 130% of the respective exercise prices of each tranche of Warrants for a specified period and a registration statement covering the Warrant Shares is effective. The warrant certificates contain customary adjustment provisions in connection with, among other things, (i) share splits and distributions, (ii) rights offerings and (iii) certain events involving a capital reorganization, reclassification, combination or merger of the Corporation.

On November 14, 2025, the Corporation entered into a subscription agreement with a private, non-affiliated investor pursuant to which the Corporation agreed to sell and issue, for aggregate gross proceeds of \$24.3 million (i) 1,000,000 common shares, no par value, of the Corporation at a price of \$24.25 per common share, and (ii) Warrants for an aggregate issue price of \$1.00, which Warrants are exercisable to purchase up to an aggregate of 400,000 common shares to be issued in three tranches on substantially the same terms and conditions as the Warrants issued in the Private Placements. This transaction is expected to close on or about November 19, 2025.

Public Offering

On October 28, 2025, the Corporation entered into an underwriting agreement with BMO Capital Markets Corp., as representative of the several underwriters named therein, pursuant to which the Corporation agreed to issue and sell an aggregate of 2,938,000 common shares of the Corporation in the United States (the "Offering") at a price to the public of \$24.25 per share, for gross proceeds of \$71.2 million and net proceeds to the Corporation of \$67.9 million. Agnico Eagle exercised its pro rata participation right with respect to the Offering in a concurrent private placement at the public offering price of the Offering which resulted in the issuance of an additional 280,415 common shares for proceeds to the Corporation of \$6.8 million (the "Concurrent Private Placement"). The Offering closed on October 30, 2025, and the Concurrent Private Placement closed on October 31, 2025.

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024 with our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes and other financial information appearing in this Quarterly Report. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this Quarterly Report, including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, operations, and product candidates, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should review the sections of this Quarterly Report captioned "Risk Factors" and "Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" for a discussion of important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.

Overview

Perpetua Resources (formerly Midas Gold Corp.) was incorporated on February 22, 2011 under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) (the "BCBCA"). The Corporation was organized to hold shares in wholly owned subsidiaries that locate, acquire, develop and restore mineral properties located principally in the Stibnite – Yellow Pine mining district in Valley County, Idaho, USA. The Corporation's principal asset is 100% ownership in subsidiaries that control the Stibnite Gold Project. The Corporation currently operates in one segment: mineral exploration in the United States. The registered and records office of Perpetua Resources is located at Suite 2501-550 Burrard St, Vancouver, BC, V6C 2B5, Canada and the corporate head office is located at Suite 201-405 S 8th St, Boise, ID 83702, USA.

2025 Outlook and Goals

Perpetua Resources' vision is to provide the United States with a domestic source of the critical mineral antimony, develop one of the largest and highest-grade open pit gold mines in the country and restore an abandoned brownfield site. Perpetua Resources' focus for the remainder of 2025 is on the following:

- Advance comprehensive project financing plan described in "Financing Update" below, which includes progressing the U.S. EXIM application for project financing;
- Advance detailed engineering, contracting, long lead procurement, and execution planning to be full sanction construction-ready in the spring of 2026; and
- Expand the management team and workforce to support full-scale construction and operations.

Third Quarter 2025 and Recent Key Highlights

- Zero lost time incidents or reportable environmental spills.
- Full exercise of underwriter option for June equity offering for \$49 million in gross proceeds closed July 14, 2025.
- Received the Preliminary Project Letter and Indicative Term Sheet from U.S. EXIM on September 8, 2025 regarding the Company's application for \$2.0 billion debt financing.
- Conditional Notice to Proceed received from the USFS on September 19, 2025 authorizing Project development upon placement of financial assurance.
- Issued request for proposal to assess technical and economic feasibility of off-site processing facilities from third parties to secure antimony for domestic uses.
- Appointment of Mark Murchison to succeed Jessica Largent as Chief Financial Officer effective October 1, 2025.
- Began early works construction for the Stibnite Gold Project on October 21, 2025 upon placement of financial assurance and receipt of the signed Plan of Operations from the USFS.
- Received \$255 Million in gross proceeds upon closing of a strategic equity investment from Agnico Eagle and JPMorgan on October 28, 2025.
- Received \$78 million in gross proceeds upon closing of a registered equity offering and concurrent private placement on October 30 and 31, 2025.

Financing Update

The Company has continued to execute and develop its comprehensive plan to finance construction of the Project since it was announced in June 2025. The construction financing is currently expected to primarily include the following elements:

• Equity – \$807 million in aggregate gross proceeds from several equity offerings from June 2025 through October 2025; proceeds of these offerings are expected to be used to fund the construction and development of the Stibnite

Gold Project, working capital costs in excess of the Project capital costs, continuing exploration and development activities, restoration and reclamation work, and for general corporate purposes:

- \$474 million in aggregate gross proceeds upon closing of a registered equity offering and concurrent private placement in June 2025 and exercise and closing of the related underwriter option in July 2025;
- \$255 million in aggregate gross proceeds upon closing of a strategic equity investment from Agnico Eagle and JPMorgan on October 28, 2025; and
- \$78 million in aggregate gross proceeds upon closing of a registered equity offering and concurrent private placement on October 30 and 31, 2025.
- U.S. EXIM Debt Up to \$2.0 billion project finance debt facility from U.S. EXIM; the Company's formal application was submitted in May 2025; U.S. EXIM's preliminary project letter and indicative terms sheet was received in September 2025; subject to successful due diligence and negotiation, the Company anticipates EXIM Board consideration by the spring of 2026 and closing the debt financing in 2026. There is no assurance that this or similar agreements will be entered into on the terms, for the amounts or on the timelines anticipated, if at all. See "Item 1A Risk Factors."
- Financial Assurance To facilitate satisfaction of construction phase financial assurance requirements, in October 2025, the Company entered into multiple related financial agreements described in Note 9 with respect to \$139.0 million of the \$155.4 million construction phase financial assurance requirements. We expect to replace the current financial assurance package with other non-cash financial assurance arrangements prior to or in connection with finalizing the full financing package for the Project.
- Cost Overrun Facilities As a condition to the closing of the U.S. EXIM financing, the Company may be required to
 put in place one or more secured accounts or facilities to fund cost overruns during the construction phase of the
 Project; the Company is exploring various options for such facilities, which may include cash on hand, subordinated
 debt, letters of credit or other financial instruments.

In connection with the \$255 million private placement in October 2025, the Corporation issued warrants to purchase up to 4,053,408 common shares, priced at 35%, 50% and 65% premiums to the price of the common shares included in the Private Placement and over one, two and three year periods following closing, respectively, for potential proceeds of up to \$142 million if all warrants are exercised. The Company expects to use any proceeds from the exercise of the warrants to support exploration activities, working capital and for general corporate purposes.

See additional details in the "Liquidity and Capital Resources" section below.

Construction Readiness, Contracting and Early Works Activities

Since the Board of Directors approved a revised 2025 budget for early works construction in August 2025, the Company has accelerated construction readiness and contracting activities. Recent updates include:

- Commenced process plant detailed engineering with Ausenco Engineering USA South Inc.;
- Commenced pressure oxidation detailed engineering with Hatch Associates Consultants Inc.;
- Issued Request for Proposal ("RFP") for the Engineering, Procurement and Construction Management of Project;
- Issued RFP for Offtake and Processing of Antimony Concentrate;
- Continued power line detailed scoping and engineering with IPCo, who engaged Kiewit Corporation for this work;
- Entered into an agreement with ATCO for the design, construction and installation of a 1,010-person turnkey camp accommodation and site package;
- Commenced early works construction on October 21, 2025 upon posting financial assurance as further described below; and
- Continued negotiating key design and execution contracts.

After posting required construction phase financial assurance with the USFS, IDL, and USACE and receiving confirmation from those agencies of approval of this construction phase financial assurance on September 20 and 21, 2025, the Company commenced construction on certain early works activities for the Stibnite Gold Project as authorized by the USFS, IDL, and USACE. Early works construction activities are limited to activities permitted under the authorizations issued by the USFS, IDL and USACE, the terms of the financial assurance agreements and the voluntary stipulations entered into by PRII and the plaintiffs in the two pending cases in federal district court challenging the USFS ROD and other federal agency approvals referenced above, which stipulations are further described under "-NEPA Permitting Update" below.

See additional details in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section below.

NEPA Permitting Update

On January 3, 2025, the USFS published the ROD and FEIS authorizing the Modified Mine Plan for the Project. Per the requirements of the FEIS and ROD, Perpetua was required to prepare numerous plans comprising the suite of Environmental Monitoring and Management Plans. These plans were to incorporate Project updates as well as required mitigation measures, environmental protection measures, financial assurance, and design features in this additional documentation. The various plans included a Final Mine Plan of Operations. On July 31, 2025, Perpetua received notice from the USFS that the Plan of Operations was considered complete.

On September 19, 2025, the USFS issued its conditional Notice to Proceed from the USFS for the Stibnite Gold Project, which stated the Project has satisfied the requirements outlined in the January 2025 ROD necessary to begin construction and that the Project may begin construction conditioned only on the Company posting of the joint construction phase financial assurance bonding agreed to by USFS, IDL, and USACE for the Project.

Perpetua subsequently posted the agreed upon joint construction phase financial assurance bonding for the Project, and the USFS on October 20, 2025 issued Notice that the requirements necessary to start construction had been satisfied, the Plan of Operations had been signed, and the Project could enter construction subject to terms and conditions specified in the Notice. IDL and USACE on October 21, 2025 also issued notices confirming that the requirements necessary to begin construction under their respective approvals for the Project, including posting the agreed upon joint financial assurance, had been met and that the Company could begin construction subject to the terms and conditions identified by those agencies.

Following the USFS' publication of the ROD and FEIS authorizing the mine plan for the Project, claims were filed against the USFS, USDA, and other federal agencies on February 18, 2025 in the United States District Court for the District of Idaho by a number of environmental advocacy groups, including Save the South Fork Salmon, the Idaho Conservation League and other non-governmental organizations, alleging violations of NEPA and other federal laws in the regulatory process. Among other remedies, the claimants seek to vacate the ROD, FEIS, Final Biological Opinions issued by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and the National Marine Fisheries Service on September 6, 2024 and October 7, 2024, respectively (together, the "Final Biological Opinions") and Project approvals and enjoin any further implementation of the Project. PRII filed a motion to intervene in this lawsuit, which was granted by the district court on April 2, 2025. The District Court issued a scheduling order under which all procedural and dispositive motions are required to be filed by the end of 2025.

On August 29, 2025, the Nez Perce Tribe filed a lawsuit against the USFS, United States Department of Agriculture, and other federal agencies in the United States District Court for the District of Idaho the challenging the USFS ROD and other approvals by the USFS and other federal agencies in connection with the Stibnite Gold Project and alleging violations of NEPA and other federal statutes, regulations, rules, and requirements in the regulatory review and approval process in of the Project. Among other remedies, the Tribe seeks to vacate the USFS ROD, the Final Environmental Impact, Final Biological Opinions, and other approvals and to enjoin any further implementation of the Project. PRII filed a motion to intervene in this lawsuit, which was granted by the District Court on September 4, 2025. A scheduling order has not been entered in this case.

The U.S. District Court on October 2, 2025 issued a general order staying all civil cases listed in the order due to the partial shutdown of the federal government over appropriations for the government. The list included the separate lawsuits filed by the Nez Perce Tribe and by the environmental mentioned above challenging the USFS ROD and other federal agency approvals. This stay does not affect the validity of the USFS ROD or any of the other approvals challenged in either of these lawsuits in connection with the Stibnite Gold Project, and all such approvals remain in effect.

The Company believes the USFS ROD and other federal regulatory processes challenged in the two foregoing federal lawsuits were conducted thoroughly and completely by the relevant federal regulatory agencies. However, there can be no assurance that the Project approvals challenged in those two cases will be upheld upon judicial review. Before this early works construction commenced, the Company entered into voluntary stipulations with the plaintiffs in the two above mentioned federal lawsuits filed by certain environmental advocacy groups and the Nez Perce Tribe challenging the USFS ROD and other approvals by the USFS and other federal agencies in connection with the Stibnite Gold Project. Those stipulations place certain restrictions on the construction activities for the Stibnite Gold Project until February 1, 2026. In exchange for the Company's commitments to these restrictions, the plaintiffs in each case agreed not to seek a preliminary injunction against development of the Project in conformance with the stipulations during the restriction period until February 1, 2026. These stipulations were filed with the U.S. District Court for the District of Idaho in the two federal lawsuits.

On May 19, 2025, the USACE issued the CWA Section 404 permit for the Project, which included the Compensatory Mitigation Plan and associated financial assurance. The Army Corps has been a part of the review process as a cooperating agency since the Company began the federal NEPA process and has been formally evaluating the Section 404 permit

application since 2023. The Section 404 permit was the last remaining federal permit needed to advance the Project towards a construction decision. On October 21, 2025, USACE issued letter to the Company confirming that the conditions set forth in the Section 404 permit necessary to begin construction, including posting of construction phase financial assurance, had been met.

Ancillary Permitting Update

With receipt of all federal permits, the Company is focused on advancing the Project towards a full construction decision, including finalizing the remaining state permits and securing project financing. Recent permitting updates include:

- In May 2024, the IDEQ issued its final CWA Section 401 Water Quality Certification for the Project (the "Certification"). In the second quarter of 2024, certain parties initiated a state administrative challenge to the Certification that will require a contested case hearing on certain issues. In March 2025, IDEQ provided a notice of intent to modify its original Certification. IDEQ released its draft modification for public comment in July 2025. The scheduling order for the contested case proceeding has been vacated in light of the IDEQ's modification action, and a new hearing date has not yet been set.
- IDEQ issued an Air PTC in 2022 that was followed by certain state administrative challenges. On May 27, 2025, the Idaho Board of Environmental Quality ("IBEQ") released its final order rejecting by certain petitioners' appeal from the hearing officer's decision in favor of the Company and the IDEQ with respect to the PTC. In May 2025, the petitioners also filed a motion for reconsideration asking the IBEQ to reverse its previous decision (in May 2024) approving the air compliance boundaries set by IDEQ in the PTC, which motion was rejected by IBEQ on June 27, 2025. In July 2025, the same petitioners filed a petition for judicial review in Idaho state court challenging the decisions of the IDEQ to issue the PTC and of the IBEQ in upholding the permit. IDEQ and IBEQ thereafter moved to dismiss the complaint on procedural grounds, and the court denied that motion and allowed the petitioners to amend their petition. The petitioners' amended petition, which names the Company as well as IDEQ and the Board as defendants was served on the Company on or about September 23, 2025. The court has entered an order dismissing the Board as a party and requiring all briefs of the parties to be filed by an outside date of January 16, 2026.
- On March 31, 2025, the IDEQ issued the final cyanidation permit approving the tailing storage facility and water quality monitoring plan. IDEQ's review of the remaining portions of the Company's application for a cyanidation facility permit remain pending.
- On March 31, 2025, the Idaho Department of Lands ("IDL") approved the cyanidation facility permanent closure plan, reclamation plan, and associated financial assurance model estimate. IDL issued supplemental orders on September 12, 2025, September 16, 2025 and October 21, 2025 approving certain modifications to these plans and the associated financial assurance estimate.
- On January 24, 2025, the Director of the Idaho Department of Water Resources ("IDWR") issued a final order granting the Company's application for certain water rights to be used in connection with the Project.
- Between July 2025 and October 2025, IDWR issued five stream alteration permits to Perpetua with respect to various elements of the Project.

Previously submitted permit applications are continuing through the administrative review process. These include applications to IDEQ for the Idaho Pollutant Discharge Elimination System ("IPDES") discharge permits (including an individual industrial wastewater discharge permit and a sanitary wastewater permit), and to IDWR for one remaining stream alteration permit. IDEQ released the draft individual industrial wastewater discharge IPDES permit and the draft modification to the Clean Water Act 401 certification for public comment in July 2025 and the Company anticipates decisions on these drafts in the fourth quarter of 2025.

Results of Operations

Three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 compared to three and nine months ended September 30, 2024

	For t	the three month	s end	led September 30,	For the nine months ended September 30,			
		2025		2024		2025		2024
EXPENSES								
Corporate salaries and benefits	\$	411,167	\$	572,176	\$	1,097,045	\$	1,618,354
Depreciation		35,694		30,886		98,884		88,639
Directors' fees		54,403		54,436		356,330		371,518
Exploration		32,127,183		14,510,853		56,187,149		31,517,250
Environmental liability expense		-		854,662		-		1,422,288
General and administration		197,100		140,829		478,887		403,966
Professional fees		791,872		253,185		1,754,008		1,046,200
Shareholder and regulatory		120,121		117,880		467,523		381,745
OPERATING LOSS		33,737,540		16,534,907		60,439,826		36,849,960
OTHER (INCOME) EXPENSES								
Grant income		(3,332,365)		(12,920,417)		(14,636,934)		(26,565,798)
Interest income		(4,673,147)		(41,810)		(5,815,137)		(101,168)
Other (income) expenses		24,092		(7,700)		(703)		226
Total other (income) expenses		(7,981,420)		(12,969,927)		(20,452,774)		(26,666,740)
NET LOSS	\$	25,756,120	\$	3,564,980	\$	39,987,052	\$	10,183,220

Net Loss

Net loss for the three months ended September 30, 2025 was \$25.8 million compared with a net loss of \$3.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024. The increase compared to the prior year period was primarily attributable to a \$17.6 million increase in exploration expense and a \$9.6 million decrease in grant income, partially offset by a \$4.6 million increase in interest income.

Net loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 was \$40.0 million compared with a net loss of \$10.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024. The increase compared to the prior year period was primarily attributable to a \$24.7 million increase in exploration expense and a \$11.9 million decrease in grant income, partially offset by a \$5.7 million increase in interest income.

Corporate Salaries and Benefits

This expense relates to salaries and benefits of the employees not directly involved in the exploration and evaluation of the Stibnite Gold Project, primarily corporate employees. Corporate salaries and benefits expense for the three months ended September 30, 2025 was \$0.4 million, which was lower than the 2024 comparative period primarily due to lower corporate headcount. Corporate salaries and benefits expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 was \$1.1 million, which was lower than the 2024 comparative period primarily due to reversal of share-based compensation upon forfeiture of certain unvested equity awards in connection with employee departures.

Directors' Fees

Each of the Corporation's non-executive directors is entitled to annual base fees paid in quarterly installments, with the independent Lead Director, Chairs of Board Committees and Members of Board Committees receiving additional fees commensurate with each role. Directors' fees are inclusive of cash fees and share-based compensation (deferred share units). Directors' fees for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 were \$0.1 million and \$0.4 million, respectively, which was in line with the 2024 comparative periods.

Exploration

This expense relates to all exploration and evaluation expenditures related to the Stibnite Gold Project, including labor, drilling, field operations, engineering, permitting, environmental, legal and sustainability costs. Exploration expenses during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 were \$32.1 million and \$56.2 million, respectively, which was higher than the 2024 comparative period primarily due to a ramp up in construction readiness activities following key permitting milestones and recent financings. See additional details in the table below:

	For the three months ended September 30,			For the nine months ended September 30,			
	2025		2024		2025		2024
Consulting and labor cost	\$ 3,922,799	\$	1,841,587	\$	9,251,511	\$	5,412,861
Engineering	22,688,621		8,531,804		32,486,009		16,778,292
Environmental and reclamation	35,683		112,037		316,701		282,360
Field operations and drilling support	2,390,295		1,140,253		5,272,927		2,495,489
Legal and sustainability	542,098		319,685		1,467,479		905,679
Permitting	2,547,687		2,565,487		7,392,522		5,642,569
TOTAL EXPLORATION	\$ 32,127,183	\$	14,510,853	\$	56,187,149	\$	31,517,250

Environmental Liability Expense

This expense relates to the ASAOC signed in January 2021 to voluntarily address environmental conditions at the abandoned mine site. Environmental liability expenses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 were \$nil, which was lower than the 2024 comparative periods due to the Company's determination in late 2024 that it had completed all Phase 1 response actions required by the ASAOC. The Company has filed necessary reports with the U.S. EPA and USDA with respect to such completion, and no further costs are accrued for this Phase 1 liability as of September 30, 2025.

General and Administrative

This expense is predominantly related to the cost of insurance policies for the U.S. offices. General and administrative expenses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 were \$0.2 million and \$0.5 million, respectively, which was in line with the 2024 comparative periods.

Professional Fees

This expense relates to the legal, accounting and consulting costs of the Corporation. Professional fees for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 were \$0.8 million and \$1.8 million, respectively, which was higher than the 2024 comparative period primarily due to legal expenses related to the securities lawsuit.

Shareholder and Regulatory

This expense relates to marketing, licenses and fees, and shareholder communications. Shareholder and regulatory expenses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 were \$0.1 million and \$0.5 million, respectively, which was in line with the 2024 comparative periods.

Grant Income

This income results from funding grants awarded to the Company from the DOW to study the domestic production of military-grade antimony trisulfide and to complete environmental and engineering studies necessary to obtain a FEIS, a ROD, and other ancillary permits to sustain the domestic production of antimony trisulfide capability for defense energetic materials. Grant income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 was \$3.3 million and \$14.6 million, respectively, which was lower than the comparable periods in 2024 due to the DPA funding being exhausted in May 2025.

Interest Income

This income results from interest received on the Company's cash balances. Interest income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 was \$4.7 million and \$5.8 million, respectively, which was higher than the comparable periods in 2024 due to higher average cash balances.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Capital resources of Perpetua Resources consist primarily of cash and liquid short-term investments. As of September 30, 2025, Perpetua Resources had cash and cash equivalents totaling approximately \$445.8 million, approximately \$2.6 million in receivables, \$1.1 million in prepaids, \$10.6 million in current deposits, and \$10.8 million in trade and other payables. An additional \$254.0 million in net cash proceeds were received on October 28, 2025 from the sale of common shares pursuant to the private placement with Agnico Eagle and JPMorgan and an additional \$67.9 million in net cash proceeds was received on October 30, 2025 from the sale of common shares pursuant to a public offering and an additional \$6.8 million in cash proceeds was received on October 31, 2025, from the sale of shares in a concurrent private placement with Agnico Eagle. As of October 31, 2025, Perpetua Resources had cash and cash equivalents totaling approximately \$720 million. See additional discussion in "Capital Resources" section below.

The Company's short-term liquidity needs include costs related to ongoing permitting, financial assurance, engineering, project financing, general corporate, and administrative costs as the Company prepares for a full construction decision for the Project, as well as certain early works construction activities and down payments on long-lead items approved for early investment. Short-term liquidity needs also include financial obligations under the various contracts entered into for early works construction, including the IPCo contract, the ATCO contract, and other vendor obligations described in Note 6 to the financial statements.

Long-term liquidity requirements will require project financing to fund the capital costs to develop the Project, which was estimated to be approximately \$2,215 million as of the fourth quarter of 2024 according to the Financial Update, and to fund reclamation financial assurance, debt service and other related costs. See additional discussion in "Liquidity" section below.

Capital Resources

From June through October 2025, the Company raised \$807 million in aggregate gross proceeds from several equity offerings. The proceeds of these offerings are expected to be used to fund early construction costs and long lead items as part of the equity requirements for the U.S. EXIM debt finance application submitted in May 2025, with any additional funds intended to support exploration activities, working capital, and general corporate purposes. The Company expects to use the proceeds from the exercise of the warrants, if any, to support exploration activities, working capital, and for general corporate purposes.

Equity Offering and Private Placement – July 2025

On June 11, 2025, the Corporation entered into the Underwriting Agreement providing for the sale by the Corporation of 22,728,000 shares of its common shares to the underwriters at a price of \$13.20 per share. On June 12, 2025, the offering was upsized to 24,622,000 shares at a price of \$13.20 per share. Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the Corporation granted the underwriters an option to purchase up to an additional 3,693,300 shares within 30 days of the offering which the underwriters exercised on July 10, 2025. The sale of the option shares closed on July 14, 2025. Proceeds received from this sale were approximately \$46.8 million, which is net of offering costs of approximately \$2.0 million.

In connection with this offering, the Corporation entered into an agreement with Paulson to purchase 7,575,757 common shares in a concurrent private placement at the same offering price of \$13.20 per share. The Corporation received net proceeds from the private placement of approximately \$100 million. The aggregate gross proceeds received from the offering and private placement were approximately \$474 million.

Private Placement of Common Shares and Warrants – October 2025

On October 27, 2025, the Corporation entered into agreements to raise \$255 million between two concurrent equity investments from Agnico Eagle and JPMorgan (the "Private Placement"). Agnico Eagle agreed to invest \$180 million in common shares and receive warrants to purchase up to 2,861,229 common shares and JPMorgan agreed to invest \$75 million in common shares and receive warrants to purchase up to 1,192,179 common shares. The Agnico Eagle warrants and JPMorgan warrants were issued in three tranches, with one-third expiring on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the closing date of the Private Placement. The one-, two- and three-year warrants will be exercisable at prices of \$31.46, \$34.95 and \$38.45 per common share, respectively. The warrants are subject to repurchase by the Corporation if the closing price of the common shares exceeds 130% of the respective exercise prices of each tranche of warrants for a specified period and a registration statement covering the warrant shares is effective. The warrant certificates contain customary adjustment provisions in connection with, among other things, (i) share splits and distributions, (ii) rights offerings and (iii) certain events involving a capital reorganization, reclassification, combination or merger of the Corporation. The Private Placement was priced at \$23.30 per common share, being the closing price of the Corporation's common stock on Nasdaq on Friday, October 24, 2025. The Private Placement closed on October 28, 2025.

Equity Offering and Private Placement – October 2025

On October 28, 2025, the Corporation entered into an underwriting agreement with BMO Capital Markets Corp., as representative of the several underwriters named therein, pursuant to which the Corporation agreed to issue and sell an aggregate of 2,938,000 common shares of the Corporation in the United States at a price to the public of \$24.25 per share, for gross proceeds of \$71.2 million and net proceeds to the Corporation of \$67.9 million. Agnico Eagle exercised its pro rata participation right with respect to the offering in a concurrent private placement at the public offering price of the offering which resulted in the issuance of an additional 280,415 common shares for proceeds to the Corporation of \$6.8 million. The offering closed on October 30, 2025, and the concurrent private placement closed on October 31, 2025.

Potential Project Debt Funding from U.S. EXIM

On April 8, 2024, the Company announced that it received a non-binding and conditional Letter of Interest from U.S. EXIM for potential debt financing of up to \$1.8 billion through U.S. EXIM's MMIA initiative and CTEP. On May 23, 2025, the Company submitted its formal application to U.S. EXIM for potential debt financing of up to \$2.0 billion. Upon receipt of the application, U.S. EXIM commenced the due diligence process to determine if a final commitment may be issued. On September 8, 2025, the Company received a preliminary, non-binding indicative financing term sheet from U.S. EXIM as part of a Preliminary Project Letter conveying U.S. EXIM's initial due diligence findings to Perpetua on its application for \$2 billion in debt financing from U.S. EXIM for the Stibnite Gold Project. Perpetua continues to work with U.S. EXIM to advance through the next stages of U.S. EXIM's due diligence and loan application process. Any funding commitment will be dependent on meeting U.S. EXIM's underwriting criteria, authorization process, finalization and satisfaction of terms and conditions. If the due diligence process is successful, the Company anticipates US EXIM Board consideration by the spring of 2026. The amount and timing of such funding from U.S. EXIM, if any, is uncertain and subject to conditions outside the Company's control.

Government Funding

The Company has been awarded government grants by the DOW as described in Note 7 to the financial statements. Since December 2022, the Company has received \$59.2 million in funding under the TIA under Title III of the DPA. The TIA expired on June 16, 2025, and no additional funds are available under the program. The Company also has an ongoing contract under an OTIA with the DOW through DOTC for up to \$22.4 million. See Note 7 to the financial statements for additional information regarding these grants. The Company continues to evaluate other U.S. government funding opportunities, including programs available through the DOW.

Liquidity

In August 2025, the Board of Directors approved a revised budget for fiscal year 2025 to reflect progress made during the first half of 2025 on permits, financing, and construction readiness activities. This revised budget includes expenditures related to early works construction activities that commenced in the fall of 2025 following receipt of necessary permits and approvals. Including the early works construction activities that commenced in the fall of 2025, our anticipated expenditures for the full fiscal year 2025 are approximately \$210.2 million, which includes expenses incurred through September 30, 2025. These expenditures include an estimated \$21.2 million to fund permitting and costs related to entering into financial assurance facilities, \$21.1 million for general corporate purposes, project financing and administrative costs, \$133.5 million for detailed engineering, design work and down payments on long lead time equipment, and \$34.3 million for field operations, site early works, exploration drilling, and environmental monitoring and reporting. The Board also approved an additional \$157.1 million for early works construction and other construction readiness activities expected to be completed during the first quarter of 2026. These costs are expected to be incurred prior to closing of the U.S. EXIM loan and final construction decision. Board approved costs are expected to be funded from cash on hand and are subject to change due to various factors such as cost over-runs, litigation, weather events, or other unbudgeted events. The Board expects to approve the full 2026 budget during the first quarter of 2026, but the Company believes it has sufficient cash on hand to cover current obligations and expenses expected to be incurred in the next twelve months and until full project sanction.

Our long-term liquidity requirements will require project financing to fund the capital costs to develop the Project, which was estimated to be approximately \$2,215 million as of the fourth quarter of 2024 according to the Financial Update, and to fund reclamation financial assurance and other costs. As such, our capital expenditures may increase significantly during the next 12 months to reflect the commencement of full construction and any such expenditures would be subject to the timing and nature of project financing. The Company expects to finance the majority of these capital costs through cash on hand and project financing from U.S. EXIM or other sources and would not commence full construction activities until such full project financing is in place.

In our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024, we reported substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern due to lack of sufficient funding to meet the Company's ongoing obligations or advance construction readiness activities for a period of 12 months from the date the annual financial statements were issued. Additional funding was received during 2025 and we have determined our current cash balance is sufficient to satisfy the Company's ongoing obligations and to continue construction readiness activities and other ongoing operations for at least 12 months from the date these financial statements are issued.

We believe our Project financing plans will be successful, although there can be no assurance that the Company will successfully complete all of its contemplated plans because these plans are not entirely within our control as of the date hereof. As such, Perpetua remains open to strategic funding opportunities that support Perpetua's overall financing and development goals for the Project, which may include the issuance of additional equity, new debt, or project specific debt; government funding; offtake, royalty or streaming arrangements; and/or other financing or strategic opportunities. The future receipt of potential funding from these and/or other means cannot be considered certain at this time. In the event Project funding is not available in the amounts or at the times anticipated, the Company may defer certain activities to ensure available cash resources are sufficient to satisfy the Company anticipated expenses until such full project financing is in place.

Critical Accounting Estimates

There have been no material changes to our critical accounting estimates subsequent to December 31, 2024. For a discussion of the Company's critical accounting estimates for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, please see our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Not applicable.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company's management, with the participation of the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2025 (the "Evaluation Date"). Based on that evaluation, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the Evaluation Date.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.

As of the Evaluation Date, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended September 30, 2025 that have materially affected, or that are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

The Corporation and its subsidiaries have been parties to an ongoing legal proceeding with the Nez Perce Tribe for claimed violations of the CWA allegedly linked to historical mining activities. In August 2019, the Nez Perce Tribe filed suit against the Company in the United States District Court for the District of Idaho. The Company filed an answer generally denying liability and later, the court allowed the Company to amend and file a third-party complaint against the USFS. The Company also filed a separate CWA citizen suit against the USFS alleging that several of the point source discharges, as alleged by the Nez Perce Tribe in its complaint, were occurring on lands owned and controlled by the United States government.

Pursuant to the terms of the voluntary ASAOC executed in January 2021 with the U.S. EPA and the USDA, the Company agreed to dismiss its pending action in the CWA case against the USFS without prejudice. On August 8, 2023, the Company and the Nez Perce Tribe filed the Settlement Agreement to resolve the Tribe's CWA claims. The parties jointly asked the court to approve the Settlement Agreement and dismiss the case without prejudice. The Settlement Agreement provides for total payments of \$5.0 million by Perpetua over a four-year period. This includes \$4.0 million of contributions by Perpetua to the Fund to be used by the Nez Perce Tribe to support water quality improvement projects in the South Fork Salmon River watershed and \$1.0 million of reimbursements to the Nez Perce Tribe for legal expenses. Following a 45-day review period by the United States Justice Department and the U.S. EPA, the U.S. District Court for the District of Idaho approved the Stipulation for Dismissal and entered a Judgment on October 2, 2023, which resulted in the CWA lawsuit being dismissed without prejudice. Under the Settlement Agreement, the Company anticipates that a dismissal with prejudice will be entered after completion of Perpetua's required payments. All required payments to date have been made timely pursuant to the terms of the Settlement Agreement. As of September 30, 2025, the current portion of the settlement was \$nil with the remaining \$2,000,000 classified as long-term.

Certain of the Company's property interests in the Project site are also subject to existing judicial consent decrees entered into by third parties and various governmental entities with respect to contamination caused by historical mining activities on or near the Project site. These consent decrees, which impose environmental liability and remediation responsibilities on third parties, apply to certain mining claims and mill sites acquired by Perpetua from those third parties. Under the consent decrees, Perpetua is required to grant access to certain Project site areas by regulatory agencies and allow remediation activities to proceed if necessary and to preserve the integrity of previous response actions. Several of the Company's patented claims in the Hangar Flats and Yellow Pine properties are also subject to a consent decree which requires Perpetua to cooperate with the U.S. EPA and the USFS to implement appropriate response activities.

Additionally, following the USFS' publication of the ROD and FEIS authorizing the Modified Mine Plan for the Project, claims were filed against the USFS, the USDA and other federal agencies on February 18, 2025 in the United States District Court for the District of Idaho by a number of environmental advocacy groups, including Save the South Fork Salmon, the Idaho Conservation League and other non-governmental organizations, alleging violations of NEPA and other federal laws in the regulatory process. Among other remedies, the claimants seek to vacate the ROD, FEIS, Final Biological Opinions and Project approvals and enjoin any further implementation of the Project. PRII filed a motion to intervene in this lawsuit, which was granted by the district court on April 2, 2025. The District Court issued a scheduling order under which all procedural and dispositive motions are required to be filed by the end of 2025.

On August 29, 2025, the Nez Perce Tribe filed a lawsuit against the USFS, United States Department of Agriculture, and other federal agencies in the United States District Court for the District of Idaho the challenging the USFS ROD and other approvals by the USFS and other federal agencies in connection with the Stibnite Gold Project and alleging violations of NEPA and other federal statutes, regulations, rules, and requirements in the regulatory review and approval process in of the Project. Among other remedies, the Tribe seeks to vacate the USFS ROD, the Final Environmental Impact, Final Biological Opinions, and other approvals and to enjoin any further implementation of the Project. PRII filed a motion to intervene in this lawsuit, which was granted by the District Court on September 4, 2025. A scheduling order has not been entered in this case.

The U.S. District Court on October 2, 2025 issued a general order staying all civil cases listed in the order due to the partial shutdown of the federal government over appropriations for the government. The list included the separate lawsuits filed by the Nez Perce Tribe and by the environmental mentioned above challenging the USFS ROD and other federal agency approvals. This stay does not affect the validity of the USFS ROD or any of the other approvals challenged in either of these lawsuits in connection with the Stibnite Gold Project, and all such approvals remain in effect.

The Company believes the USFS ROD and other federal regulatory processes challenged in the two foregoing federal lawsuits were conducted thoroughly and completely by the relevant federal regulatory agencies. However, there can be no assurance that the Project approvals challenged in those two cases will be upheld upon judicial review.

On March 20, 2025, a putative federal class action lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the District of Idaho against the Company and certain of its current officers and directors, on behalf of a proposed class of purchasers of the Company's common shares during the period from April 17, 2024 to February 13, 2025, inclusive. The claim, captioned *Barnes et al. v. Perpetua Resources Corp. et al.*, Case No. 1:25-cv-00160, alleges that the defendants violated Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by making false and/or misleading statements during the period from April 17, 2024 to February 13, 2025 regarding the Company's expected capital expenditures for the Stibnite Gold Project. The complaint seeks unspecified compensatory damages. The District Court has issued a scheduling order in this case requiring various procedural and substantive motions to be filed by the parties prior to the end of 2025. These deadlines can be modified by the court. The Company filed a motion to dismiss the plaintiffs' amended complaint on September 30, 2025. The Company believes that the claim is without merit and intends to vigorously defend itself. However, in view of the uncertainties inherent in litigation, the Company does not express a judgment as to the outcome of this litigation.

The Idaho Board of Environmental Quality ("IBEQ") published an order on May 27, 2025 upholding the air permit to construct ("PTC") issued for the Project by the Idaho Department of Quality ("IDEQ") in June 2022 and denying certain petitioners' appeal from various administrative proceedings with respect to the PTC. The IBEQ on June 27, 2025 denied the petitioners' motion for reconsideration. Thereafter, the petitioners filed a petition for judicial review in the Idaho state district court for the County of Ada against the IBEQ and IDEQ seeking to set aside the PTC as violative of applicable law and challenging the decisions of the IBEQ upholding the PTC. IDEQ and the IBEQ thereafter moved to dismiss the complaint on procedural grounds, and the court denied that motion and allowed the petitioners to amend their petition. The petitioners' amended petition, which names the Company as well as IDEQ and the IBEQ as defendants was served on the Company on or about September 23, 2025. The court has entered an order dismissing the Board as a party and requiring all briefs of the parties to be filed by an outside date of January 16, 2025. The Company believes that the IDEQ and the IBEQ properly followed Idaho law in issuing the PTC. However, there can be no assurance that the PTC will be upheld upon judicial review.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to other information set forth in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, you should carefully consider the risk factors and other cautionary statements described under the heading "Risk Factors" included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 which could materially affect our businesses, financial condition, or future results. Additional risks and uncertainties currently unknown to us, or that we currently deem to be immaterial, also may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, or future results. Except as set forth below, there have been no material changes in our risk factors from those described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Our largest shareholder has significant influence on us and may also affect the market price and liquidity of our securities.

Paulson holds in the aggregate 26.5% of the outstanding shares in Perpetua as of November 3, 2025. Accordingly, Paulson has significant influence in determining the outcome of any corporate transaction or other matter submitted to the shareholders for approval, including mergers, consolidations, and the sale of all or substantially all of our assets and other significant corporate actions. The concentration of ownership of the common shares by Paulson may: (i) delay or deter a change of control of the Company; (ii) deprive shareholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their common shares as part of a sale of the Company; and (iii) affect the market price and liquidity of the common shares. Pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement dated March 17, 2020 between Paulson, Idaho Gold Resources Company, LLC (wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and the Company (the "Paulson IRA"), Paulson has the right to designate two Board members so long as Paulson holds not less than 20% of our common shares and the right to designate one Board member so long as Paulson holds not less than 10% of our common shares. Marcelo Kim and Andrew Cole are Paulson's nominees to the Board and Marcelo Kim was appointed Chairman of our Board in March of 2020. As long as Paulson maintains its shareholdings in the Company, Paulson will have significant influence in determining the members of the Board. Without the consent of Paulson, we could be prevented from entering into transactions that are otherwise beneficial to us. The interests of Paulson may differ from or be adverse to the interests of our other shareholders. The effect of these rights and Paulson's influence may impact the price that investors are willing to pay for our shares. If Paulson or its affiliates sell a substantial number of our common shares in the public market, the market price of the common shares could fall. The perception among the public that these sales will occur could also contribute to a decline in the market price of our common shares.

Additionally, under the terms of the Paulson IRA, the Agnico Eagle IRA and the JPMorgan IRA, Paulson, Agnico Eagle and JPMorgan have the right to participate pro rata in any equity offering by the Company, subject to certain exceptions.

We do not currently have sufficient funds or committed financing necessary to fund the estimated capital cost of the Project, and we may be unable to raise the necessary funds. Financing that we enter into to fund the Project may subject us to restrictive covenants, significant debt service costs or otherwise affect the value of the Project.

On October 21, 2025, we announced that we broke ground on the Stibnite Gold Project after posting construction phase financial assurance for the Project as required by the agreement among the USFS, USACE and IDL and receiving

clearance from those agencies to commence construction subject to the terms stated in those clearances. According to the Financial Update, as of December 31, 2024, the total initial capital cost estimate for the Project was approximately \$2,215 million, excluding debt service and other financing costs.

We do not currently have sufficient funds or committed financing to fund the estimated capital cost of the Project and our ability to obtain sufficient funds or committed financing on acceptable terms, or at all, may be impacted by various factors, including, but not limited to, market conditions or commodity pricing; unfavorable interest rates; regulatory uncertainty; the incurrence of additional debt, which may be subject to certain restrictive covenants; and permitting delays, challenges to our existing permits, ability to post financial assurance for operations following completion of construction or other unforeseen issues relating to our existing or future permits. The cost and terms of such financing, if obtained, may significantly reduce the expected benefits from development of the Project and/or render such development uneconomic, including by imposing restrictive covenants; limiting our ability to control certain property or development decisions as a result of our entry into joint ventures or other similar arrangements; the loss of certain economic benefits of our property as a result of our entry into royalty or similar agreements; or dilution to existing shareholders resulting from additional equity financing.

As part of our previously announced, comprehensive financing package, in May 2025 we submitted a formal loan application to U.S. EXIM for debt financing in the amount of \$2.0 billion to finance construction of the Project and received a preliminary, non-binding indicative financing term sheet in September. However, there can be no assurance that our application will be granted or that, if granted, any funding provided by U.S. EXIM will be sufficient for us to construct the Project. See "— The issuance of a final financing commitment from U.S. EXIM is subject to U.S. EXIM's underwriting criteria, authorization process, finalization and satisfaction of terms and conditions, and the amount and timing of such funding, if any, is uncertain and subject to conditions outside the Company's control.". If our financing application is not approved or, if approved, such financing is not sufficient for us to construct the Project, we may need to incur debt from other financing sources to fund the estimated capital cost of the Project. The terms of any potential debt financing may impose operating and financial restrictions on us and our subsidiaries, which may limit our ability to respond to changing business and economic conditions. For example, any such debt financing may contain restrictive covenants that limit our ability to incur additional indebtedness, make particular types of investments, incur certain types of liens, engage in fundamental corporate changes, enter into transactions with affiliates, make substantial asset sales, make certain restricted payments, enter into amendments or waivers to certain agreements, conduct certain sale leasebacks or enter into certain burdensome agreements. The terms of any such financing may also require the Company to put in place one or more secured accounts or facilities to fund cost overruns or other expenses during or after construction. Such conditions may require the Company to raise additional funds, enter into additional debt facilities, or restrict cash on hand. These covenants could adversely affect our ability to finance our future operations or capital needs or to execute preferred business strategies. In addition, complying with these covenants may make it more difficult for us to successfully execute our business strategy and compete against companies who are not subject to such restrictions.

Our failure to obtain sufficient financing could result in the delay or indefinite postponement of development, construction, or production at the Project. There can be no assurance that additional capital or other types of financing will be available when needed or that, if available, the terms of such financing will be favorable. Our failure to obtain financing could have a material adverse effect on our growth strategy and results of operations and financial condition.

The issuance of a final financing commitment from U.S. EXIM is subject to U.S. EXIM's underwriting criteria, authorization process, completion of due diligence and loan documentation, finalization and satisfaction of terms and conditions, and the amount and timing of such funding, if any, is uncertain and subject to conditions outside the Company's control.

On April 8, 2024, the Company announced that it received a non-binding and conditional LOI from U.S. EXIM for potential debt financing of up to \$1.8 billion through U.S. EXIM's MMIA initiative and the CTEP. On May 23, 2025, the Company announced that it had submitted its formal application to U.S. EXIM for potential debt financing of up to \$2.0 billion. More recently, on September 8, 2025, the Company announced that it received a preliminary, non-binding indicative financing term sheet from U.S. EXIM, as part of a PPL conveying U.S. EXIM's initial due diligence findings to the Company. The LOI, PPL and indicative term sheet are non-binding and conditional and do not represent a financing commitment. A funding commitment, if any, is conditional upon successfully completing the due diligence and underwriting process, which may not be completed on the expected timeline, or at all. If the Company's application is approved, there can be no assurance that the U.S. EXIM financing will be for the full amount indicated in the LOI or the increased amount requested in the application, or that the approved U.S. EXIM financing will be sufficient for the Company to construct the Project. Further, release of funding under any such commitment would be subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions and covenants by the Company, which furthermore, as a condition to the closing of such financing, the Company may be required to put in place one or more secured accounts or facilities to fund cost overruns during the construction phase of the Project. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to successfully satisfy any or all of such conditions on the expected timeline, or at all, and the amount and timing of such funding, if any, is uncertain and subject to conditions outside the Company's control.

The application review process is controlled by U.S. EXIM and is subject to the procedures, priorities and staffing of the agency, including in connection with any shutdowns of the federal government. As a result, the Company's application may not be reviewed or processed on the Company's preferred or expected timeline, and funds may not be available when needed to commence construction. Furthermore, U.S. EXIM funding is subject to the priorities of the federal government, which may result in changes to the amount, timing or conditions of funding. Even if approved, the terms of any U.S. EXIM funding may not be on acceptable terms or may be subject to conditions that the Company is unable to satisfy. If the Company is unable to secure U.S. EXIM financing, it may be unsuccessful in obtaining other project financing when needed or to commence construction on the Project.

We require various permits to complete construction and commence operation of the Project and continue any future operations, and delays or a failure to obtain such permits, or a failure to comply with the terms of any such permits that we have obtained, could have a material adverse impact on us.

We have received all federal and state permits needed to advance the Project into the initial construction phase, and in October 2025 we received confirmation from the USFS, IDL and USACE that we satisfied the remaining conditions under such permits to commence such initial construction. However, our current and anticipated future operations, including further development and construction activities and commencement of operations on the Project, require additional authorizations from various federal, state and local governmental authorities in the United States that we will need to obtain in the future. For example, the Company's current construction plans include certain activities for which financial assurance must be posted with the IDWR. The financial assurance instrument proposed by the Company remains under review by the IDWR. Also, in addition to providing construction phase financial assurance in favor of federal and state agencies to satisfy the requirements of applicable federal and state law and the requirements of various governmental approvals, it is expected that additional financial assurance in favor of federal and state agencies in respect of Project operations after construction is completed will be required by the relevant agencies when the Company moves from the construction phase to the operations phase of the Project. Further, certain additional permits, beyond those necessary to initiate construction, will be required from federal and state agencies as part of the Company's full construction plan. There can be no assurance that such regulatory authorizations will be obtainable on reasonable terms, when expected or at all. Furthermore, permitting requirements can be costly to comply with and involve extended timelines. Permitting delays, failure to obtain such permits, or a failure to comply with the terms of any United States federal, state or local permits that we have obtained or successful legal challenges to the issuance of permits we have obtained, could have a material adverse impact on us.

Although the Project was included on the United States' FAST-41 list of priority projects, such inclusion may be reconsidered based on updated information and does not imply endorsement of or support for the Project by the federal government, or create a presumption that the Project will receive any required outstanding regulatory approvals or favorably reviewed by any agency, or receive federal funding.

The duration and success of efforts to obtain, maintain, and renew permits are contingent upon many variables not within our control. Shortage of qualified and experienced personnel in the various levels of government could result in delays or inefficiencies. Backlog within the permitting agencies could affect the permitting timeline of the various projects. Other factors that could affect the permitting timeline include (i) the number of other large-scale projects currently in a more advanced stage of development which could slow down the review process, (ii) significant public response regarding the Project or any future projects the Company undertakes, and (iii) the initiation and disposition of legal proceedings challenging the Project or any regulatory approvals required for it. Additionally, to the extent that we are granted necessary permits, we may be subject to a number of Project requirements or conditions, including, but not limited, to the installation or undertaking of programs to protect air and water quality and to safeguard protected species and their habitat, sites, or otherwise limit the impacts of our operations. Various permits will require the Company to provide bonding or other financial assurance to federal and state agencies to assure the Company complies with Project requirements, including requirements relating to reclamation of disturbances or impacts to the environment caused by the Project. Previously obtained permits may be suspended or revoked for a variety of reasons. While we strive to obtain and comply with all necessary permits and approvals, any failure to do so may have negative impacts upon our business or financial condition, such as increased delays, curtailment of our operations, increased costs, implementation of mitigation or remediation requirements, the potential for litigation or regulatory action, and damage to our reputation.

Mine closure and reclamation regulations and certain permits required to construct and operate mines include requirements that we provide financial assurance supporting our future reclamation obligations. The costs of providing financial assurance could significantly increase and we might not be able to provide financial assurance in the future.

We are required by United States federal and state laws and regulations to reclaim our mining properties. The specific requirements may change and vary among jurisdictions, but they are similar in that they aim to minimize long term effects of exploration and mining disturbance by requiring the control of pollutants and other possible deleterious substances, reestablishment to some degree of pre-disturbance landforms and vegetation, and restoration of natural resources. The Company's approved mine plans also include certain commitments to address legacy conditions at the Project site created by historical

mining operations of other mining companies and to restore to some degree natural and environmental resources to conditions existing before those historical mining operations. Such commitments in the approved mine plans are included within the Company's financial assurance obligations. We are currently required, and may in the future be subject to additional requirements, to provide bonding or other financial assurance as security for reclamation costs, which may exceed our estimates for such costs. In addition, we may enter into various financial agreements to satisfy financial assurance requirements, and the terms of such agreements may impose certain restrictions on us or require us to post cash collateral. For example, we posted a reclamation surety bond in the approximate amount of \$139 million in construction phase financial assurance to satisfy joint requirements of USFS, IDL, USACE, and IDEQ under applicable federal and state law prior to commencing construction of the Project. The Company also posted approximately \$4 million in financial assurance via a letter of credit in favor of the USACE to satisfy separate financial assurance requirements for off-site mitigation under the Clean Water Act Section 404 permit. Also, pursuant to approvals from the IDWR, the Company is negotiating a letter of credit in the approximate amount of \$16 million to satisfy a separate financial assurance of that agency. To facilitate satisfaction of these construction phase financial assurance requirements, in October 2025 we entered into multiple related financial agreements consisting of the above-mentioned surety bond and a related indemnity agreement with the surety provider; a credit facility and a standby letter of credit in favor of the surety provider; and additional arrangements to support letters of credit in favor of the USACE and, when needed, IDWR for the separate financial assurance requirements. The terms and conditions of the current financial assurance package with the surety provider require us to, among other things, maintain at least \$200 million in aggregate collateral, cash and marketable securities, satisfy other collateral maintenance requirements and maintain compliance with reporting requirements and certain other covenants. The agreements with the bank providing the letters of credit also have customary credit facility requirements. Compliance with the collateral maintenance requirements of the current financial assurance package may strain our financial resources or otherwise reduce liquidity that would otherwise be available for other uses and, therefore, may have an adverse impact on our financial condition. Furthermore, a claim on the surety bond or a breach of our covenants in favor of the surety provider under or our failure to fulfill our obligations under the related indemnity agreement entitles the surety to demand collateral up to 125% of the aggregate penal sum of all outstanding bonds, plus associated costs and expenses. Similarly, a breach of our covenants or other obligations under the credit facility supporting the lenders of credit constituting an event of default enables the bank to accelerate repayment and enforce collateral rights. Any such collateral demand or acceleration would adversely affect our financial condition and may have the effect of delaying the progress of development of the Project.

We expect to replace the current financial assurance package with other non-cash financial assurance arrangements prior to or in connection with finalizing the full financing package for the Project. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to replace the current financial assurance package on acceptable terms and on the anticipated timeline, or at all. Additionally, our future reclamation costs, whether in the construction phase or operations phase of the Project, may exceed the financial assurances we post, which may require additional financial assurance to be provided to federal and state agencies, and those assurances may ultimately be unavailable to us.

We have no history of commercially producing precious metals from our mineral properties and there can be no assurance that we will successfully establish mining operations or profitably produce precious metals.

We have only recently commenced construction of the Project, and we have no ongoing mining operations or revenue from mining operations. Mineral development and mine construction have a high degree of risk and few properties that are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. The successful development of the Project will require obtaining committed financing, the completion of a multi-year construction process and operation of mining areas, processing facilities and related infrastructure, as well as ongoing compliance with and maintenance of federal, local and state permits and financial assurance requirements. As a result, we are subject to all of the risks associated with establishing new mining operations and business enterprises, including, among others:

- The need to obtain and maintain environmental and other governmental approvals and permits, the timing and conditions of those approvals and permits, and challenges, including litigation, to the issuance of such approvals and permits;
- The need to maintain financial assurance in favor of federal and state agencies required under applicable statutes, regulations and permits for the construction phase of the Project and to obtain additional financial assurance for the operations phase of the Project;
- The potential that future exploration and development of mineral claims on or near the Project site may be impacted by litigation and/or consent decrees entered into by previous owners of mineral rights;
- The availability and cost of funds necessary to finance construction and development activities;
- The timing and cost, which can be considerable, of the construction of mining and processing facilities, as well as other related infrastructure;

- Opposition from Native American tribes, non-governmental organizations, environmental groups or local groups, including the initiation of legal proceedings in courts or before administrative bodies, which may delay or prevent permitting, development, exploration, and construction and operation activities;
- Potential increases in construction and operating costs due to changes in the cost of labor, fuel, power, materials and supplies, services, and foreign exchange rates;
- The availability and cost of skilled labor and mining equipment; and
- The availability and cost of appropriate smelting and/or refining arrangements

The costs, timing and complexities of mine construction and development are increased by the remote location of the Project, with additional challenges related thereto, including access, water and power supply, and other support infrastructure. The lack of availability of such infrastructure on acceptable terms or the delay in the availability of any one or more of these items could prevent or delay further development of the Project. Cost estimates have in the past and may in the future increase significantly as more detailed engineering work and studies are completed and as construction activities progress. We do not have an operating history upon which we can base estimates of future operating costs; thus, actual capital costs, operating costs, production and economic returns may differ significantly from those we have anticipated and there are no assurances that any current or future development activities will result in profitable mining operations. New mining operations commonly experience unexpected costs, problems and delays during development, construction, and mine start-up. In addition, delays in the commencement of mineral production often occur. Furthermore, a significant drop in commodity prices over a sustained period of time could render the Project not economically viable or limit our ability to maintain operations. Accordingly, there are no assurances that our activities will result in profitable mining operations, that we will successfully establish mining operations, or that we will profitably produce precious metals at the Project.

In addition, there is no assurance that our mineral exploration activities will result in any discoveries of new ore bodies. If further mineralization is discovered, there is also no assurance that the commercial production of the mineralized material would be economical. Discovery of mineral deposits is dependent upon a number of factors and significantly influenced by the technical skill of the exploration personnel involved. The commercial viability of a mineral deposit is also dependent upon a number of factors which are beyond our control, including the attributes of the deposit, commodity prices, government policies and regulation, and environmental protection requirements.

Construction of mine facilities is subject to all of the risks inherent in construction and start-up, including delays and costs of construction in excess of our projections.

Construction of mine facilities is inherently risky and subject to many risks, many of which are beyond our control, that could delay or prevent the completion of, or significantly increase the costs of construction of, the Stibnite Gold Project, including:

- Design, engineering, procurement and construction difficulties or delays, including unusual or unexpected geologic formations and conditions;
- Availability of materials, equipment and labor;
- Cost overruns, including due to inflation or tariffs;
- Our failure or delay in obtaining necessary legal, regulatory and other approvals and permits;
- Failure to obtain or delays in obtaining project construction financing;
- Interruptions in the supply of the necessary equipment, construction materials or labor, or an increase in their price;
- Injuries to persons and property;
- Opposition of local and or non-governmental-organization interests, including litigation and/or contested administrative proceedings; and
- Natural disasters, inclement weather, accidents, political unrest, or unforeseen events.

If any of the foregoing events or other unforeseen events were to occur, our financial condition could be adversely affected and we may be required to seek additional capital, which may not be available on commercially acceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to complete construction of the Project, we may not be able to recover any costs already incurred. Even if construction of the Project is completed on the expected timeline, the costs could significantly exceed our expectations and result in a materially adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows.

Our operations, including permits, currently are and in the future may be subject to legal challenges, which could result in adverse impacts to our business and financial condition.

Our mining, exploration, and development operations, including Project construction and operations and the regulatory authorizations required for such activities, may be subject to legal challenges at the international, federal, state, and local level by various parties. Such legal challenges may allege non-compliance with laws and regulations by regulatory agencies or the Company and may seek to invalidate permits or regulatory actions regarding the Project or future projects undertaken by the Company. For example, on February 18, 2025, following the USFS' publication of its ROD and FEIS authorizing the Project, subject to conditions such as approval of the mine plan of operations and other plans and posting of required financial assurance, claims were filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Idaho against the USFS and other federal agencies by a number of claimants. The claims allege, among other things, violations of NEPA and other federal laws in the regulatory process and seeks to vacate key governmental permits and Project approvals and enjoin any further implementation of the Project. On August 29, 2025, the Nez Perce Tribe filed similar claims against the USFS and other federal agencies in the U.S. District Court for the District of Idaho challenging the USFS ROD and other federal authorizations relating to the Project. The Court has granted PRII's motion to intervene in both lawsuits. Other legal challenges in federal or state judicial or legal proceedings have been instituted, including a lawsuit in Idaho state court appealing from the issuance of an air permit to the Company for the Project by the IDEQ and a state administrative contested case proceeding challenging the IDEQ's Clean Water Act Section 401 water quality certification. While the Company believes the federal and state regulatory processes in respect of the Project have been conducted thoroughly and completely by the relevant regulatory agencies, there can be no assurance that the USFS ROD, FEIS and other Project approvals will be upheld upon administrative or judicial review or that such proceedings will be resolved in a timely manner. Also, timing with respect to the decisions in these legal challenges is uncertain.

Additionally, our Project is located in a mining district with significant impacts from legacy mining operations of other mine operators prior to our acquisition of legal interests in certain properties. Pursuant to CERCLA and other statutes, there is a risk that we may be subject to liability and remediation responsibilities with respect to these sites under applicable law, consent decrees or similar agreements. The Company is currently party to an Administrative Settlement and Order on Consent ("ASAOC") with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and U.S. Department of Agriculture issued pursuant to CERCLA. In the ASAOC, the Company agreed voluntarily to undertake specified response actions under an approved scope of work with respect to certain impacts from legacy mining operations. The response actions performed to date by the Company do not address all legacy conditions at the Project site, and it is uncertain whether the Company and the federal agencies will agree on additional scopes of work and if not, what, if any, regulatory or legal actions may be taken by the federal agencies. Also, the Company is subject to certain restrictions on the use of the Project mine site under the ASAOC and certain other consent decrees and agreements previously entered into by third parties and governmental authorities related to legacy mining impacts at the Project site.

Lawsuits and legal challenges to governmental permits and Project approvals, such as those described above and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 and in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, as well as legal proceedings or administrative challenges that may be brought in the future, may result in adverse impacts to our planned operations such as increased defense costs (to the extent we are a party to such challenges), the performance of additional mitigation and remedial activities, loss or modification permits for the Project, significant delays to our Project or increases to the construction or operating costs of the Project. We may also be subject to national or more localized opposition, including efforts by environmental groups, which could attract negative publicity or have an adverse impact on our reputation. Additionally, due to the nature of our business and our status as a publicly traded company, we may be subject to regulatory investigations, claims, lawsuits and other proceedings, including proceedings related to claims brought pursuant to federal securities laws, in the ordinary course of our business. The results of these or other legal proceedings that may arise cannot be predicted with certainty due to the uncertainty inherent in litigation, including the effects of discovery of new evidence or advancement of new legal theories, the difficulty of predicting decisions of judges and juries and the possibility that decisions may be reversed on appeal. There can be no assurances that these matters will not have a material adverse effect on our business.

We depend on key personnel for critical management decisions and to manage our business effectively.

We are dependent on the services of a relatively small number of key personnel, including our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other highly skilled and experienced executives and personnel focused on managing our interests and the advancement of the Stibnite Gold Project, in addition to the identification of new opportunities for growth and funding. The loss of any of these key personnel, through incapacity, resignation or otherwise, and the process of onboarding and integration of replacement personnel could divert management's attention, disrupt or otherwise compromise the pace and success of our construction and development activities or otherwise have an adverse effect on our operations.

Additionally, to successfully develop and construct the Project, we will need to significantly expand our team of employees and operational and support staff and hire additional contractors, and it may be difficult to attract or retain individuals with the appropriate background and expertise in a timely manner and without incurring significant additional costs. The expansion of our team may also have the effect of diverting management's attention. If we are not able to hire, retain and integrate these new team members or if they do not perform adequately, our business may be harmed.

A prolonged United States federal government shutdown could materially and adversely affect our business and operations.

Any disruption in the operations of the United States federal government, including as a result of the recent prolonged shutdown or any future temporary or prolonged shutdowns resulting from the failure of Congress to enact appropriations bills, raise the federal debt ceiling or otherwise, could materially and adversely affect our business, operations and financial condition. Recently, beginning on October 1, 2025, the U.S. federal government shut down, during which time certain regulatory agencies, such as the USFS and the SEC, furloughed large numbers of employees and stopped routine activities and operations. Additionally, on October 10, 2025, the U.S. federal government implemented substantial layoffs and workforce reductions in connection with the federal government shutdown, which resulted in the suspension or delay of various government-funded programs. While we continue to monitor developments, there is no assurance that affected government employees or contractors will be reinstated as expected and that all government-funded programs will resume as normal. Furthermore, the recent federal government shutdown has resulted, and may continue for a prolonged period of time to result, in reduced availability of government services, and suspension or delay of activities by key agencies that regulate, provide services to or otherwise interact with our business, including the SEC, USFS, U.S. EXIM, the Bureau of Land Management and the U.S. Department of Labor's Mine and Safety Health Administration. As a result, review and approval of our filings, applications, and submissions could be delayed, and we may be unable to access or rely upon certain government data or systems. In particular, it may lead to disruptions and delays in completing early construction activities. Additionally, it could delay or disrupt U.S. EXIM's ongoing review of our loan application and the timing of any final funding commitment that may be issued if our application is approved, which could in turn impact our broader plans for financing construction and development activities of the Project. Furthermore, the recent shutdown affected the federal courts, which has resulted in certain delays to date, and could cause future delays, with respect to the administration of the legal proceedings pending in the U.S. District Court in Idaho that challenge various federal approvals of the Project. Delays in the administration of the pending legal proceedings in federal court delay the final disposition of those cases, which in turn could delay or disrupt implementation of the Project.

In addition, any federal government shutdown or prolonged budget negotiation uncertainty may adversely affect the broader U.S. economy, investor confidence, and capital markets. Such conditions could negatively impact the liquidity or trading volume of our securities, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and stock price. Accordingly, the recent and any future federal government shutdown, lapse in federal funding or protracted budget impasse could materially and adversely affect our operations, financing capabilities and overall financial condition.

For as long as we are an "emerging growth company," or a "smaller reporting company" we have not been required to comply with certain reporting requirements that apply to some other public companies. Once we no longer qualify as an emerging growth company and a smaller reporting company, our regulatory compliance costs and the demands placed upon our management are expected to increase.

Since we became a reporting issuer in the United States, we have been an "emerging growth company" and a "smaller reporting company" as defined under U.S. securities reporting rules and, as such, we were exempt from certain disclosure requirements applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies or smaller reporting companies. Based on our market capitalization and public float as of June 30, 2025, we expect to lose our smaller reporting company status in the first quarter of 2026 and our emerging growth company status as of December 31, 2026. Therefore, once we lose our status as an emerging growth company and a smaller reporting company and after the expiration of the transition period available to issuers who have lost such status, we will no longer be able to take advantage of the reduced disclosure requirements currently available to us. Specifically, starting in 2027 we will be required to, among other things:

- Have an auditor report on our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Sarbanes-Oxley;
- Comply with any new or revised financial accounting standards without an extended transition period;
- Provide expanded disclosure in our SEC filings, including, among other things, providing three, rather than two, years of audited financial statements in annual reports;
- Include more detailed compensation discussion and analysis in our filings under the Exchange Act; and
- Hold a non-binding stockholder advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any "golden parachute" payments not previously approved.

In connection with the expected loss of our emerging growth company and smaller reporting company status, we expect to incur significant expenses and devote substantial management effort toward ensuring compliance with expanded disclosure requirements and the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. If an independent assessment of our internal controls detects material weaknesses, or if we are unable to assert that our internal controls over financial reporting are effective, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, the market price of our common stock could be adversely affected, and we could become subject to litigation or investigations by Nasdaq, SEC or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and management resources and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Issuer's Purchases of Equity Securities

None

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Pursuant to Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Act, issuers that are operators, or that have a subsidiary that is an operator, of a coal or other mine in the United States are required to disclose specified information about mine health and safety in their periodic reports. These reporting requirements are based on the safety and health requirements applicable to mines under the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977 (the "Mine Act") which is administered by MSHA. During the nine months ended September 30, 2025, the Company and its subsidiaries were not subject to regulation by MSHA under the Mine Act and thus no disclosure is required under Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Act.

Item 5. Other Information.

On November 14, 2025, the Corporation entered into a subscription agreement with a private, non-affiliated investor pursuant to which the Corporation agreed to sell and issue, for aggregate gross proceeds of \$24.3 million (i) 1,000,000 common shares, no par value, of the Corporation at a price of \$24.25 per common share, and (ii) Warrants for an aggregate issue price of \$1.00, which Warrants are exercisable to purchase up to an aggregate of 400,000 common shares. The Warrants will be issued in three tranches with the same exercise prices and on substantially the same terms and conditions as the Warrants issued in the Private Placements. This transaction is expected to close on or about November 19, 2025. Pursuant to the terms of this subscription agreement, the investor will also receive resale registration rights under the registration rights agreement entered into in connection with the Private Placements. The subscription agreement contains customary representations and warranties of the parties, and indemnification obligations of the Corporation. The Corporation will not pay any underwriting discounts or commissions with respect to the common shares that are to be sold in this private placement. The sale of the common shares issued in the private placement will not be registered under the Securities Act in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act.

Item 6. Exhibits.

Exhibit Number	Description
3.1	Certificate of Incorporation of Perpetua Resources Corp. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-255147) filed with the SEC on April 9, 2021).
3.2	Notice of Articles and Articles filed under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-255147) filed with the SEC on April 9, 2021).
3.3	Certificate of Change of Name (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-255147) filed with the SEC on April 9, 2021).
3.4	Amendment to Articles, dated May 25, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on May 27, 2022).
4.1	Description of Common Shares (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2022, filed with the SEC on August 12, 2022).
10.1*#	Camp Supply and Installation Agreement, made and executed as of August 29, 2025, by and between Perpetua Resources Idaho, Inc. and ATCO Structures & Logistics (USA) Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 5, 2025).
31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act).
31.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act).
32.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 1350 of Title 18 of the United States Code.
32.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 1350 of Title 18 of the United States Code.
101.INS	Inline XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE 104	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

^{*} Portions of this exhibit have been reducted in compliance with Regulation S-K Item 601(b)(10)(iv).

[#] Schedules have been omitted pursuant to Regulation S-K Item 601(b)(2). The Company agrees to furnish to the SEC a copy of any omitted schedule upon request.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: November 14, 2025 PERPETUA RESOURCES CORP.

By: /s/ Jonathan Cherry

Name: Jonathan Cherry

Title: President, Chief Executive Officer and Director